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INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

The Buzzards Bay Coalition (“Coalition”) submits these comments on the
proposed settlement agreement between the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency (“EPA”)' and AVX Corporation (“AVX”) that the United States has
lodged with the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts
(“District Court”) with respect to the New Bedford Harbor Superfund site (“Site”).
EPA has solicited public comments and reserved the right to withdraw its approval
of the settlement following its review of these comments. For the reasons set forth
below, the Coalition opposes the settlement as proposed and respectfully requests
that EPA withdraw its proposed settlement agreement and seek modifications
allowing EPA to reopen its enforcement action against AVX in the event that the
Harbor’s remedial costs ultimately exceed EPA’s current estimates.

New Bedford Harbor is an invaluable environmental, recreational, and economic
resource. More than 30 years ago, toxic concentrations of PCB contamination
were discovered in the Harbor sediments and along its shoreline. Soon thereafter,
EPA identified an electrical capacitor manufacturing plant owned by AVX as the
primary source of this contamination, and EPA’s legal action against AVX ensued.
EPA and AVX settled that lawsuit in 1992, AVX paid EPA and the
Commonwealth $66.5 million, and the parties agreed that EPA could “reopen” the
suit if any of the following occurred in the future: EPA’s cleanup costs exceed
$130.5 million; “conditions at the New Bedford Harbor site previously unknown to
the United States and the Commonwealth are discovered after issuance of the
Record of Decision (ROD)”; or “information is received, in whole or in part, after
issuance of the RODs...that the Remedial Action is not protective of human health
or the environment.””

Twenty years have elapsed since the 1992 settlement. AVX has abandoned its
Aerovox site on the New Bedford Harbor shoreline, EPA’s estimated costs to
complete the project have increased ten-fold over original estimates, EPA has
remediated less than one-third of the Harbor’s PCB contamination at a cost of $456
million® and government funds to complete the cleanup have become severely
limited. A recent EPA assessment revealed that areas of the Harbor still contain

! For ease of reference only, where these comments make mention of collective actions by both EPA and the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Environmental Quality, we refer to them as “EPA.”
? Consent Decree with Defendant AVX Corporation, Civil Action No. 83-3882-Y, entered February 3, 1992 (*1992

Consent Decree”) at 20-21.
3 Unilateral Order for Remedial Design, Remedial Action, and Operation and Maintenance, U.S. EPA Docket No.

CERCLA-01-2002-0045, (“UAQ™), issued April 21, 2012 at 26 and footnote 15.
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PCB concentrations 1,000 times over government criteria, seafood from the Harbor
remains so contaminated that its consumption constitutes a serious public health
risk, and the expansion of residential and recreational uses of the Harbor and its
shoreline has increased and will continue to increase the number of people directly
exposed to PCB contamination. Meanwhile, EPA continues to issue significant
modifications to its 1998 remedial design plan and now calculates that the project
would take another 40 years to complete using government funds.

The Coalition and other members of the community have monitored these
developments with increasing concern and dismay. The Coalition is a nonprofit
organization whose 8,000-plus members are dedicated to the restoration, protection
and sustainable use of Buzzards Bay and its watershed, including the Acushnet
River and New Bedford Harbor. About 1,300 of the Coalition’s members live in
the greater New Bedford area and nearly 250 reside within 1,000 yards of the
Harbor’s contaminated shoreline. The Coalition’s members include commercial
lobstermen and fishermen who use the Harbor as their home port, owners of
businesses and residences abutting the contaminated Harbor shoreline, people
discouraged by PCB contamination from using the Harbor for boating and other
recreational enjoyment, and many others throughout the area concerned about the
contamination’s devastating environmental impacts.

Last April, twenty years after the District Court approved a consent decree
requiring AVX to help fund the Harbor cleanup, EPA finally exercised its right to
reopen its legal action against AVX and ordered AVX to finance and promptly
complete the long-delayed remediation of the Harbor’s PCB contamination. In
October, EPA proposed to settle its case against AVX and withdraw its order. In
place of the order, EPA agreed to “supplement” the consent decree approved by
the District Court in 1992. That supplement would require AVX to make
additional payments of a fixed amount but would delete all provisions allowing
EPA to reopen the case in the future.® In particular and very significantly, the
proposed settlement would bar EPA from seeking any additional cleanup funds
from AVX should the amount of AVX’s payments prove inadequate to complete a
timely and effective cleanup; the release would be effective in two years and thus
pre-date most remaining remedial work. The proposed settlement also would
release AVX from liability for the costs EPA has incurred to date for Site cleanup
costs; those costs are at least $350 million in excess of the amounts paid to EPA
under earlier settlements with AVX and others.

* Supplemental Consent Decree with Defendant AVX Corporation, Civil Action NO. 83-3882-Y, lodged October
10, 2012 (“Supplemental Consent Decree” or “proposed Settlement™), at 8, 15-16.
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Other than AVX, no responsible company or government agency has sufficient
funds to finance the expeditious completion of this project. In fact, EPA has
conceded that its funding limitations would delay the project’s completion for 40
years. Thus, funding from AVX, a successful enterprise having $1 billion/year in
revenues and now controlled by a much larger Japanese multinational, is the only
viable source for the timely completion of the cleanup.

Although AVX’s fixed “cash-out” payments under the settlement will be about
90% of EPA’s current future cost estimate, the cost of implementing an effective
Harbor very likely will ultimately be much higher than EPA’s current estimate.
For example, the estimate completely ignores future cleanup costs for the 17,000
acres of PCB contamination in Outer New Bedford Harbor where commercial
fishing and lobstering have been banned for over 30 years. Also, EPA itself
acknowledges that additional volumes of contaminated sediments must be dredged
to meet the cleanup standards it established in 1998 because of increasing
residential and recreational uses in the area; EPA’s current cost estimate does not
take account of all of these existing and foreseeable land use changes. EPA’s cost
estimates are likely understated for other reasons as well. EPA’s current “low
cost” remedial design using on-Site sediment “containment” in Confined Disposal
Facilities (“CDFs”) or Confined Aquatic Disposal Cells (“CAD cells”) in lieu of
off-site disposal could well prove ineffective. Likewise, the now-outdated PCB
cleanup levels that EPA selected for the Harbor 14 years ago could well prove
inadequate to assure that seafood from the Harbor will be safe for human
consumption. Each of these circumstances will require EPA to take additional,
costly remedial actions, just as the agency has at other EPA-supervised PCB
cleanup sites where on-site containment options and lax cleanup standards were
initially used and proved ineffective.

Finally, as EPA acknowledges, because AVX is the only viable source of future
funding to complete an effective remedy, the viability of EPA’s proposed fixed
sum, no-reopener settlement is entirely dependent on the accuracy its current cost
estimate of $393 million. Remarkably, that estimate rejects the prescription of
EPA’s own guidance document that such estimates “always” should include a 50%
up side contingency when made prior to finalization of the remedial design,’
something EPA is not even close to achieving. Complying with the guidance
would have required EPA to acknowledge that the cleanup cost could be as much
as $600 million. Indeed, the report EPA relied on for it $393 million cost estimate
explicitly recognized the applicability of the 50% contingency.

5 A Guide to Developing and Documenting Cost Estimates during the Feasibility Study, EPA 540-R-00-002,
OSWAR 9 9 355.0-75, July 2000 (“Cost Guidance™) at 2-4.
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What is more, EPA has consistently and grossly underestimated future remedial
costs at the Site. In 1992 court filings supporting its earlier settlements, EPA
expressed great confidence in its $33 million estimate for the OU-1 remedy; in
1998, citing its many years of investigations and studies at the Site, EPA again
expressed confidence in its revised $115 million estimate. Now, with EPA having
already spent over $456 million to remediate a minority of contaminated sediments
at the Site and with EPA’s future cost estimate now having escalated to nearly
$400 million, EPA again contends that its current estimate is accurate. But the
agency'’s track record at the Site provides absolutely no reason to believe that its
most recent estimate is any more reliable than its many, ever-increasing past
estimates. Indeed, we can only concur with AVX that there is no evidence “that the
estimated cost today is anything near what the ... remedy will ultimately cost.”®

Accordingly, proceeding with a fixed sum, no-reopener settlement with the only
entity in a position to finance a timely remedy would create a serious dilemma:
EPA will either have to ignore evidence that a fully-protective remedy is much
more costly than its current estimate or proceed to implement an adequate remedy
without any assurance that funding will be available to complete it expeditiously.
No settlement should create such a Hobson’s choice when the public health and the
environment’s restoration are at stake.

EPA concedes that the absence of a reopener creates “risks” and attempts to justify
them on ground that a settlement is necessary to avoid complex and protracted
litigation with AVX’s well-funded attorneys.” EPA’s concerns in this regard are
self-interestedly exaggerated. The governing federal statute imposes “no fault”
liability for all cleanup costs on any owner whose facility is the source of
environmental contamination, regardless of when the contamination occurred or
whether there were other sources of the contamination. Few, if any, relevant facts
are in dispute.

Simply stated, AVX’s legal defenses to liability have no merit and EPA’s decision
to settle without a cost-related reopener cannot reasonably rest on the spurious
merits of those defenses. Indeed, the governing law confirms that Congress has
denied EPA’s authority to settle matters such as this without reopeners and other
protections that this settlement fails to contain.

The Coalition is gratified that EPA finally resuscitated its legal action against AVX
and would support any reasonable settlement of the action. We also understand

® Letter to EPA from Mary K. Ryan and Gary L. Gill-Austern, dated September 24, 2010, at 6.
" Additional Frequently Asked Questions, issued by EPA on October 25, 2012 (“FAQ I1") at 4; Frequently Asked
Questions, issued by EPA on October 10, 2012 (“FAQ I”) p. 2.
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why, because it lacks funding to complete the project, EPA decided to give up its
past cost claims of over $325 million against AVX. But the settlement EPA has
negotiated will not adequately protect the Harbor or those living near it in the
greater New Bedford area because, in the likely event that the future costs of an
effective remedy exceed EPA’s current and unreliable estimate, there will be no
funding source available to complete the project and assure the Harbor’s timely
restoration.

Accordingly, the Coalition respectfully requests EPA to withdraw the proposed
Supplemental Consent Decree and proceed to secure modifications that modify the
effective date of the covenant not to sue and allow it to reopen governmental
enforcement action against AVX in the event that the Harbor’s remedial costs
ultimately exceed EPA’s current estimate.

Section I below provides, as background, the factual information upon which
Coalition’s opposition to the proposed Supplemental Consent Decree is grounded,
including information about the Site and the history of EPA’s remedial activities
and legal actions regarding PCB contamination of the Harbor. Section II then sets
forth the detailed factual and legal basis for the Coalition’s opposition.

L BACKGROUND INFORMATION

A. The New Bedford Harbor Site and Discovery of PCB
Contamination.

New Bedford Harbor is located in southeast Massachusetts where the Acushnet
River flows into Buzzards Bay. The western shore of the Harbor is in the City of
New Bedford (population c. 100,000); the eastern shore is located in the Towns of
Fairhaven (pop. c. 16,000) and Acushnet (pop. c. 10,000), which are primarily
residential communities. The City of New Bedford, the largest city on Buzzards
Bay, is the home port of the top revenue generating commercial fishing fleet in
America® and has the Commonwealth’s second largest number of lobstermen.’
The Harbor is also used for recreational fishing, boating, beach combing and
swimming, but the PCB contamination has lowered the value of the Harbor as a
recreational resource. '

From the 1940s into the 1970s, approximately two million pounds of
polychlorinated biphenyl (“PCBs”) were dumped or otherwise discharged into the

¥ http://www.portofnewbedford. org/commercial-fishing/our-commercial-fishing-industry/ Last visited December 16,
2012.

*UAO, supra, at 17-18.

"% Id. at 18 and footnote 12.



Harbor every year, primarily from a facility on Belleville Avenue near the upper
portion of New Bedford Harbor."" This facility (“AVX Facility”) was an electrical
capacitor manufacturing plant owned by AVX and a corporate predecessor. AVX
has since abandoned the facility and moved much of its successful business
operations to South Carolina. In its most recent filings with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission, AVX reported annual revenue over $1 billion and assets
over $2 billion."* Its principal shareholder is a Japanese multinational company
with annual net sales of over $14 billion."> With 72% of the outstanding shares,
Kyocera is AVX’s majority shareholder."*

PCB contamination of the Harbor was first discovered 1n the late 1970s. In 1979,
the Commonwealth found that PCBs cause diseases deemed dangerous to the
public health, namely PCB intoxication and carcinogenesis, and that consumption
of seafood contaminated with PCBs poses an immediate and lasting threat to
human health. The Commonwealth accordingly promulgated regulations
prohibiting the consumption of any fish/shellfish caught north of the Harbor’s
hurricane barrier, and of bottom feeding fish or lobster caught from waters south of
this barrier.” Recently, EPA augmented the Commonwealth’s prohibition and
issued even more stringent restrictions regarding the consumption of seafood from
the Harbor.'®

In 1982, the Commonwealth designated the Harbor as its highest priority site, and
the following year EPA added the site to its National Priorities list."” For
administrative purposes, EPA divided the Site into three geographic areas (which it
called “Operational Units” or “OUs”), as follows:

° OU-1, covering both 187 acres in the upper portion of the Harbor above the
Coggeshall Bridge (“Upper Harbor”) where PCB concentrations reached
100,000 parts per million (“ppm”), and the 750 acres in the lower portion of
the Harbor, below the bridge but inside the hurricane barrier, (“Lower
Harbor”) where PCB levels reached 1000 ppm;

" Id. at 5-6.

2 AVX Corporation Fiscal Year 2012 Form 10-K at 38, 39. Excerpts attached hereto as Attachment 1.

' Kyocera Corporation Fiscal Year 2012 Form 20-F at 6. Excerpts attached hereto as Attachment 2.

" AVX Corporation Form 10-K supra at 26, 32. “In fiscal 2010, 2011 and 2012, dividends of $27.2 million, $32.3
million and $44.2 million, respectively, were paid to stockholders.” “Kyocera is the majority stockholder of AVX.
As of May 4, 2012, Kyocera owned beneficially and of record 121,800,000 shares of common stock, representing
approximately 72% of our outstanding shares.”

P UAO, supra, at 5.

' www.epa.gov/mbh/seafood.html. Last visited November 15, 2012. See also UAO, supra, at 7.

WA, supra, at 7.



° OU-2 ,covering a 5-acre “hot spot” adjacent to the AVX Facility in the
Upper Harbor where PCB sediment contamination was particularly acute;
and

. OU-3, covering 17,000 of sediments in the portion of the Harbor outside the
hurricane barrier (“Outer Harbor™) through which EPA found that significant
amounts of PCBs continued to migrate each year."®

Starting in 1983, EPA conducted numerous investigations, studies, and a pilot
dredging project at the Site. In 1990 EPA selected a remedy for the OU-2 “hot
spot” portion of the site.'” That plan initially called for dredging “hot spot”
sediments and incinerating them nearby; EPA later modified the plan to have the
dredged sediments transported off-site for disposal in a licensed landfill.*® As so
modified, this portion of the project was completed in 2000.

Also in 1990, EPA completed a feasibility study of remedial alternatives for OU-1,
the remaining portion of the Site inside the Harbor’s hurricane barrier.*' In
January 1992, based on this study, EPA issued its “preferred” cleanup plan for the
OU-1 portion of the Harbor; EPA’s future cost estimate for this plan was
$33,274,000, subject to a 50% upside contingency factor to account for
uncertainties.*

B. EPA’s Initial Legal Actions and Settlements.

Meanwhile, in 1984 the United States on behalf of EPA filed an amended
complaint in a U.S. District Court seeking recovery of EPA’s past and future
cleanup costs at the Site pursuant to CERCLA Section 107.% The defendants were
AVX and several other owners and former owners of the AVX Facility and of
another capacitor manufacturing plant located in the Outer Harbor. Over time,
other parties were added to the suit, including the Commonwealth as a plaintiff, the
federal government trustee for natural resources, as a plaintiff; the defendants’

¥ 1d. at 6.

Y 1d. at 7-8.

*Id. at 8.

*! Feasibility Study of Remedial Alternatives for the Estuary and Lower Harbor Bay, issued by EPA in August 1990
(1990 FS”), at 6-1. .

*2 Cleanup Plan to Address Contamination in the Estuary and Lower Harbor/Bay at the New Bedford Harbor Site,
issued by EPA, January 1992 (“1992 Plan”) at 18.

# CERCLA’s formal title is the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980,

42 U.8.C. 9601, et seg.



insurance carriers; and a plaintiff intervenor, the National Wildlife Federation
(“NWF”).24

In 1987, EPA moved the District Court to approve a settlement of its natural
resource damage claims against AVX; the settlement contained a government
covenant not to sue AVX for future damages even if then unknown. NWF
opposed the motion, contending that CERCLA section 122 required such
settlements to contain a “reopener” allowing the EPA to seek additional amounts
for then-unknown future damages. After an extensive review of the legislative
history of section 122, the court determined that “the thrust of this subsection is to
ensure that the federal government, and thus ultimately the taxpayer, does not bear
the costs of future unknown damages.” The court further found that Section
122’s legislative history “leaves no doubt that preventing potentially responsible
parties from escaping future liability was a primary concern of Congress.””
Accordingly, the court agreed with NWF and held that in this instance “the lack of
a reopener is a violation of the governing statue as well as against the intent of
Congress and not in the public interest.”’

In November 1991, EPA moved the District Court to approve a settlement of its
response cost and natural resource claims against AVX. The settlement provided
for AVX’s payment of $66 million (plus accrued interest), a government release of
AVX’s future liabilities upon completion of the remedy, and EPA’s right to reopen
the litigation if any of the following were to occur:

> “conditions at the New Bedford Harbor site, previously unknown the
United States and the Commonwealth [,] are discovered after 1ssuance
of the RODs”; or

> “information is received, in whole or in part, after issuance of the
RODs...that the Remedial Action is not protective of human health of
the environment”; or

> “the total Remedial Costs exceed $130.5 million.”*®

The settlement provided that, of the amount to be paid by AVX, $50 million would
be allocated to the future costs of Site remediation; of that amount, $15 million was

* The District Court granted NWF’s motion to intervene in 1989. See In Re Acushnet River and New Bedford
Harbor, 712 F. Supp. 1019 (D. Mass. 1989) (“1989 Decision™).

 Jd. at 1037.

i

*7 Id. at 1038.

8 1992 Consent Decree, supra, at 20-21.



designated for the OU-2 “hot spot” remediation and $35 million for future OU-1
studies and remediation.” NWF opposed the settlement on the grounds that the
costs of the remedy and extent of natural resource damages were too uncertain at
that time.>® However, EPA assured the court that its cost estimate was reasonable
in light of the agency’s “comprehensive” studies, “years of information” and “a
wealth” of other data then available to it, as follows:

Before entering into this settlement, the governments also
evaluated the potential future costs of cleanup and restoration in
New Bedford Harbor. In its considerations, the governments
had the benefit of the years of information gathered in their
investigations and evaluated by their experts on the
contamination in the Harbor, the injury to the resources, and
options for and costs of remedial and restoration work. The
information considered in the governments’ evaluation included
the plan and underlying data gathered during the investigation
and study for the first ROD which addresses the most highly
contaminated “Hot Spot” areas of the Upper Estuary. In
addition, the governments considered the information gathered
and compiled in the multi-volume comprehensive RI/FS [1990
study for QU-1 area] for the second ROD, including estimates of
the costs for the various cleanup alternatives under
consideration. Included in this information was the wealth of
sampling data evaluating the extent of PCB contamination and
injury to the resources in the waters, sediments, and biota of
New Bedford Harbor....”"

AVX agreed with EPA’s position and represented that the amount of its settlement
payment “compares favorably with expected costs and damages.”

Furthermore, in urging court approval of the settlement over NWF’s objections,
EPA acknowledged there was “some exposure if the remedy costs are higher than
the government anticipated,” but it stressed that this exposure “was mitigated

* Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion to Enter Consent Decree with AVX Corporation filed by the U.S.
Department of Justice in Civil Action No. 83-3882-Y (*DOJ Memorandum™) at 2 and footnote 5. Attached hereto
as Attachment 3.

0 1d.at 13.

31 1d. at 10-11(emphasis added).

32 Reply of AVX Corporation to Opposition of Intervenor National Wildlife Federation to Plaintiff's Motion to
Enter Consent Decree, filed in Civil Action No 83-3882-Y, January 2, 1992 (“AVX Reply”), at 19. Attached hereto
as Attachment 4.



greatly by the reopeners,” particularly the cost reopener.” Thus, EPA contended,
it was unnecessary at that time to know “the full extent of cleanup costs ...given
the cost reopener provision of the [proposed] AVX consent decree.”* In February
1992, the District Court overruled NWF’s objections, noted that the “bar to
settlement” in its 1989 Decision “no longer exists,” and entered a consent decree
constituting the EPA-AVX settlement (“1992 Consent Decree”).”’

By the end of 1992, EPA had negotiated and the District Court had approved
“cash-out” settlements with the remaining defendants; each of them had limited
financial resources and none was the primary source of the Harbor’s PCB
contamination.”® These settlements provided that the EPA’s release of the
defendants from future liability would not become operative until the Site remedy
had been completed and was certified by EPA to be effective.”’

EPA was paid a total of about $100 million as a result these settlements with AVX
and the other defendants.*® Recently, EPA summarized the financial status of the
other settling defendants as follows:>

Since these settlements in the early 1990s, the financial
strength of these companies is in doubt. Aerovox, Inc. [A
different company than AVX] is bankrupt and no longer exists,
while Belleville Industries, Inc. was dissolved in 1978. As for
CDE [Cornell-Dubilier] and FPE, on August 28, 2012, the
United States and the State of New Jersey entered into a
settlement for the Cornell-Dubilier Electronics Superfund Site in
South Plainfield, New Jersey, with CDE, which provide
covenants not to sue to CDE and its former corporate parent
FPE, that was based on limited ability to pay considerations.

3 Reply Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’'s Motion to Enter Consent Decree With AVX Corporation (“DOJ
ﬁeply’) filed in Civil Action No. 83-3882-Y, January 21, 1992, at 7. Attached hereto as Attachment 5.

Id. 12.
¥ See docket entry No. 2378 in Civil action no, 83-3882-Y at 65 and preceding unnumbered entry documenting the
Court’s decision.
5 UAO, supra, at 8-10.
Y7 See docket entry No. 2362 in Civil action no. 83-3882-Y.at 19 “1991 Consent Decree entered into by the United
States, the Commonwealth and Belleville Industries, Inc. and its legal successor, Aerovox Inc.”; see docket entry
No. 2406 in Civil action no. 83-3882-Y at 20 “1992 Consent Decree entered into by the United States and the
Commonwealth with Cornell-Dubilier Electronics, Inc. (CDE) and its parent company, Federal Pacific Electric
Company (FPE).” These release provisions are contained in those settlement agreement found in the court records,
as attached hereto as Attachment 6.
B UAO, supra at 8-10 and 1992 Consent Decree supra at 9.
YFAQ 11, supra, at 3-4.
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C.  History of EPA’s Design and Cost Estimates for the OU-1
Cleanup.

In September 1998, six years after the District Court approved the 1992 Consent
Decree between EPA and AVX, EPA issued a final Record of Decision (“1998
ROD?”) that constituted its “final” plan for remediation of OU-1. The 1998 ROD
prescribed a plan to address sediments there that exceeded specified cleanup
performance standards tied to PCB sediment concentrations in the Upper and
Lower Harbor.*” Those standards were, and currently remain, as follows: 50 parts
per million (“ppm”) for sediments in the Lower Harbor and in salt marshes; 25
ppm for sediments in certain shoreline areas used for beach combing; 10 ppm for
the Upper Harbor sediments, and 1 ppm in areas where homes abut the Harbor or
otherwise where human contact with sediment is expected.* The volumes of
sediment that must be dredged under this plan are based on these cleanup standards
and thus are dependent upon on the public’s current and foreseeable access and
exposure at various portions of the Site.

In setting the cleanup standards, EPA rejected AVX’s contention that a 50 ppm
cleanup standard should be used in all areas, determining that tolerating such a
higher level contamination would not provide adequate protection against shoreline
dermal contact risks and would be ineffective in protecting against the public’s
consumption of PCB-contaminated local seafood.* The ROD also stated that,
“[f]or seafood to meet both the FDA and site specific levels at the end of 10 years,
EPA believes that a TCL [standard] for sediment dredging of 1 ppm would be
necessary.” Nevertheless, EPA ultimately decided to use cleanup standards less
stringent than 1 ppm for most of the Harbor and set a 1 ppm standard only for areas
where homes directly abutted the Harbor or where EPA expected human contact
with contaminated shoreline sediment.**

Using these less stringent standards set for most of the Harbor and the status of
land use of residential near the Harbor at that time, the 1998 ROD estimated that
EPA would need to dredge and dispose of 450,000 cubic yards (“cy”) of PCB-
contaminated sediment from the Harbor.* The 1998 ROD plan called for the

“0 Record of Decision for the Upper and Lower Harbor Operable Unit New Bedford Harbor Superfund Site New
Bedford, Massachusetts, September 1998 (1998 ROD™).

* Declaration for the Record of Decision New Bedford Harbor Superfund site Upper and Lower Harbor Operable
Unit New Bedford, Massachusetts, (“Declaration for the Record of Decision™) Administrative Record No. 38206 at
1-11.

%1998 ROD at A-32.

* 1d. at 35.

“ Declaration for the Record of Decision supra at ii.

1. ati.
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dredged sediments to be transported via a suction pipe to four CDFs to be
constructed along the Harbor’s contaminated shoreline.*® The 1998 ROD
estimated that the net present-value of the OU-1 remedy’s cost would be $115
million.

In 2002, EPA announced a significant modification to the 1998 ROD. Now
estimating that 507,100 cy of sediment would need to be dredged, EPA decided
that instead of constructing a CDF on the Harbor’s shoreline, it would transport
these dredged sediments to a licensed landfill. In the 2002 ESD, EPA estimated
that the remedy’s fully-funded future costs would be about $317 million.*’

In the same decision, EPA acknowledged uncertainties about the adequacy of
funding for the project. By this time, EPA had expended all of the monies paid by
AVX and others in 1991 and 1992 to settle their liabilities.”* Because Superfund
trust fund monies had been exhausted due to repeal of taxes earmarked for the
fund,* any funding for CERCLA projects was now dependent on EPA’s receipt of
annual Congressional appropriations from general revenues.”’ EPA estimated that
it could complete the project at this Site by 2011 if it obtained annual funding of
$25 to $30 million, but it worried that more limited funding would result in
“significant project delay and inefficiencies.”"

Dredging of the OU-1 portion of the Site began in 2004. However, because EPA’s
annual funding for the project was limited to $15 million, dredging operations
proceeded for only 40 days each year, with only 20-25,000 cy of sediments being
removed each year.”* In 2010, EPA conducted an extensive review of progress at
the Site. It found that only 200,000 cy of sediments had been dredged to date and
that the total estimate of contaminated sediment required to the remediated had
increased to 900,000 cy.® The 2010 Review also reported that PCB concentrations
in fish continued to significantly exceed EPA’s site-specific guidelines.” This
prompted EPA to augment the Commonwealth’s 1979 regulations closing the

*1998 ROD at 6, 30.

* Explanation of Significant Differences for the Upper and Lower Operable Unit New Bedford Superfund Site New
Bedford, Massachusetts, August 2002 (2002 ESD™) at 9. The 2002 ESD did not provide a present-value cost
estimate.

“Id. at6.

Y1

0 See 2013 Budget, TAX Policy Center, available at http://taxpolicycenter.org/taxtopics/2013.

512002 ESD at 8, C-14; UAO, supra, at 11-12..

% Second Five-Year Review for the New Bedford Harbor Superfund site, issued by EPA, September 10, 2010
(#2010 Review™) at 13.

 Jd.at 15.

* Id. at 26.
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Harbor to fishing and barring the consumption of local seafood.”” However, as
EPA’s report acknowledged, because of “the vast geographic area of the site
coupled with the area’s cultural diversity and reliance on local fishing, complete
control of I’SgB—contaminated seafood will be problematic until full remediation is
complete.”

This 2010 Review also raised concerns about the adequacy of the dredging up to
that time: monitoring showed that the EPA model used to determine the depth of
remedial dredging was “underestimating the required depth of dredging...at least
in the highly contaminated northern reaches of the Upper Harbor.”’

In March 2011, EPA promulgated a fourth significant change to its 1998 ROD
remedial plan design.”® EPA proposed that, in lieu of disposing of sediment off-
site as decided in 2002, it would place 300,000 cy of contaminated sediment in a
CAD cell to be dug in the bottom of the Lower Harbor.”” This new plan called for
excavating a 47-foot pit deep into the Harbor floor; mechanically dredging
contaminated sediment; placing it on a barge; de-watering it in the open air; and
then dumping it into the cell.*

Prior to EPA’s 2011 decision to use CAD cells in the Lower Harbor, the Coalition
submitted comments questioning the efficacy of this approach.®’ EPA responded
that it had used CAD cells at other locations, but concededly never to contain
materials with PCB concentrations as high as those at the Site.”> EPA also
acknowledged that it had previously tried to use a CAD cell to contain PCB
sediments during a pilot project in the Harbor and that the effort was
“unsuccessful.”® Later, the Coalition’s own research revealed that, after EPA used
CAD cells to bury and cap PCB-contaminated sediments in the Puget Sound
Harbor in the State of Washington, PCBs were detected outside the cell as a result
of errors made during the sediment disposal process. Additional remedial work
and costs were therefore required to complete the remedy.**

7 www.epa.gov/nbh/seafood. html, last visited November 15, 2012.

% 2010 Review at 5 (emphasis added).

1. 31 .(emphasis added)

* March 2011 Final - Fourth Explanation of Significant Differences for Use of a Lower Harbor CAD Cell (LHCC),
issued by EPA, (“2011 ESD”).

P d.at 3.

% Id. at 8-9.

8! Letter to EPA from Korrin Petersen, Vice President, Advocacy of the Coalition for Buzzard Bay, dated
September 10, 2010.

622011 ESD, supra, Attachment A at 33.

“1d at 26.

%Declaration of Mark P. Rasmussen (*“Rasmussen Decl.”) at 9951 and 52 and Exhibit N thereto. Rasmussen Decl.
attached hereto as Attachment 7.
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Although EPA recently re-iterated its plans to use CAD cells in the Lower
Harbor,” it has not formally decided whether it will use them in the Upper Harbor
as well. In 2011, EPA announced that it would undertake a “feasibility study” to
re-evaluate its current plan to use on-shore CDFs for the disposition of sediments
dredged in the Upper Harbor.®® More recently, in a public statement about the
settlement, EPA stated that this study will begin “within the next six months.”®’
EPA documents produced in response to the Coalition’s FOIA request reveal that
the study will include the option of digging in-situ CAD cells in the Upper Harbor
as well.”® The New Bedford City Council recently expressed its strong opposition
to the use of on-site containment of dredged PCB sediments and urged EPA to
dispose of all dredged sediments off-site.”’

Inits 2011 ESD, EPA calculated that the time and total future cost to restore the
OU-1 portion of the Site with limited government funding would be 40 years and
$1.2 billion.” If annual funding were increased to $80 million/year and the time to
complete the OU-1 cleanup could be reduced to 6 years, EPA’s current estimate is
that the future costs would be $393 million (present value) or $422 million (fully
funded over six years).” According to EPA, taking account of inflation and other
factors, this estimate is five times higher than its original estimate.”” EPA has
recently stated that this estimate is the “most accurate” because the remedy for the
Site is “in place.””

EPA guidance regarding remediation at Superfund sites states that cost estimates
made prior to the remedy’s final design should “always” be qualified as having an
uncertainty range of -30% to +50%, meaning that actual costs may be as much as
30% lower or 50% higher than the estimates.”* Thus, the EPA report on which
EPA grounds its current cleanup cost estimate of $393 million states in its
assumptions an upside uncertainty factor of +50%.” EPA relied on the $393

£ FAQ 11, supra, at 6-7.

%2011 ESD, supra, Attachment A at 6.

TFAQIL, supra, at 7.

%8 Rasmussen Decl. at 47 and Exhibit K thereto.

% 1d. at 150 and Exhibit M thereto. '

2011 ESD, supra, at 2

" 1d. at 2.

7 Jd. Attachment A at 42. According to AVX, EPA’s current estimate is at least 11 times higher than its original
estimate. Id.

i FAQ I, supra, at 2,

™ Cost Guidance, supra, at 3-9 and Exhibit 2-3. The Guidance indicates that a 15% contingency factor may be
asppropriate once the design of the remedial plan has been finalized.

7 June 21, 2010 Cost Estimates for 2010 Confined Aquatic Disposal (CAD) Cell Explanation of Significant
Differences (ESD)(“June 21, 2010 Cost Estimates™) at 1. Administrative Record No. 466839. “The cost estimates
supporting the proposed Lower Harbor Confined Aquatic Disposal (CAD) Cell (LHCC) were prepared following
EPA’s guidance document, 4 Guide to Developing and Documenting Cost Estimates During the Feasibility Study.
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million estimate in its 2011 ESD but ignored the EPA guidance and argued that the
cost uncertainty factor should be only 15%, because of EPA’s long experience at
the Site.” EPA did not mention that it had not yet established a final design for

remediation.

As of the end of 2011, EPA had spent approximately $456 million for Site study
and remediation.”” Those remediation efforts resulted in the dredging of
approximately 265, 000 cy of contaminated sentiments, constituting about 30% of
the total volume of 900,000 cy that will require dredging according to EPA’s most
recent estimates.”

D.  Public Use Changes in and near the Harbor.

As discussed in subsection C. above, the 1998 ROD adopted cleanup standards for
PCB-contaminated sediments in the Harbor that vary in different areas in
accordance with human access to and use of each particular portion of the Site.
Those standards are the most stringent in areas where the public’s use and

exposure 1s the highest.

In 2001, EPA recognized that its earlier estimates of volumes to be dredged had
been understated because of increased residential land use near the Harbor.
Accordingly, it reduced from 50 ppm to 25 ppm cleanup standards in two
additional areas to address the risk of dermal contact. It correspondingly increased
the estimated volume of sediment to be dredged. ™

In 2010, EPA again acknowledged the increased use of the shoreline in the Upper
Harbor for private residences and public recreation.*® In light of these
developments, EPA said it “expected that additional shoreline properties developed
before remediation will trigger more stringent cleanup levels.”™® EPA has also
acknowledged increased public recreational uses of the Site.*> However, at least as

EPA 540/R-00/002, July 2000. These cost estimates take advantage of actual costs experienced to date for various
elements of the harbor cleanup, and as such represent as accurate an estimate as possible of future costs.
Nevertheless, consistent with EPA guidance, and especially since many of the funding/remedial scenarios extend
over 20 years or more, these estimates are expected to be accurate within -30 to +50 percent of the actual project
cost.”

2011 ESD, supra, at 17.

TUAO, supra, at 26, footnote 15.

82011 ESD, supra, at 2.

™ Explanation of Significant Differences for the Upper and Lower Harbor Operable Unit New Bedford Harbor
Superfund Site New Bedford, MA September 2001 (2001 ESD”) at 5.

%0 2010 Review, supra, at 37.

1 1d.

2 UAOQ, supra, at 24-25.
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of October, 2012, when EPA announced its proposed settlement with AVX, EPA
“ha[d] not yet evaluated” the changes in uses along the shoreline and in the Harbor
itself, nor had it revised its cleanup levels or estimated dredged sediment volumes
in light of those changes.®

The Harbor has experienced significant land use changes over the last two
decades.*® When EPA began its studies of the Site in 1985, the predominant land
use was industrial. Today the largest single land use is residential, with residential
and recreation together making up nearly half of the land use in the Upper
Harbor.”

Additional land use changes in and around the Harbor can be anticipated, some as
result of the Coalition’s restoration and conservation-related initiatives. In 2009,
the Coalition purchased 7.5 acres of Marsh Island located in the Lower Harbor and
has rights to the remainder of Marsh Island under a conservation restriction from
the Fairhaven Acushnet Land Preservation Trust.”® The New Bedford Harbor
Trustees Council funded the Coalition’s purchase and restoration of this property
using proceeds from the 1991 and 1992 settlements discussed above. A primary
purpose of the Coalition’s investment in Marsh Island is to allow public access,
shoreline access and enjoyment of coastal and marine resources, wildlife and open
space.’” The Coalition’s conservation restriction states that permitted acts and uses
shall include but not be limited to “hiking, canoeing, fishing, wildlife observation
and that the general public shall have the right to enter the Premises ...for passive
recreation such as hiking, boating, bird watching, etc.”® The Coalition plans to
use this property to promote a heightened community conservation ethic by
creating a large publicly-accessible natural riverfront reserve containing walking
trails, in an area where access opportunities are now limited or non-existent.
Marsh Island is also the largest saltmarsh restoration project in the Harbor and its
completion will, following cleanup of the Site, greatly improve the community’s
access to the Harbor’s natural resources.”

There are other land use changes which EPA’s current cost estimate does not
consider. The City of New Bedford plans to construct a public walking path around
the perimeter of the Harbor with funding provided by the New Bedford Harbor
Trustee Council and to build a boathouse on the Harbor shore to promote increased

¥ FAQ, supra, at 10.
8 Rasmussen Decl., supra, at 425 and 27 and Exhibits E, and F.
85
Id.
:: Id. at 1917 and 18,and Exhibits C and D.
Id.
% Jd and Exhibit D.
¥ 1d.at921.
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recreational boating. In addition, public use of the Harbor itself has evolved and
now supports multiple uses, including the hosting of a fishing fleet of 500 vessels
as well as a community rowing program for New Bedford youth.” In fact, New
Bedford Community Rowing, a city-sponsored program that organizes rowing
events, has already held three week-long rowing programs in the Harbor. The
Boston Globe reported on April 29, 2012 that “... the program seeks to transform
the public perception of the harbor, long seen in a gritty, industrial light, to that of
a recreational destination.” According to the article, “City officials are also hoping
the river, which lends itself perfectly to crew races, will become a prime draw for
big races and help spur tourism.””’

Applying the same cleanup standards established in EPA’s 1998 ROD, the
Coalition has determined that the majority of the Upper Harbor now qualifies for a
cleanup to the 1 ppm standard because of existing and reasonably foreseeable
residential and recreational uses.”? Furthermore, in order to reflect the future uses
of the Marsh Island property discussed above, under EPA’s own 1998 standards,
this area also now qualifies for the 1 ppm cleanup level.”

EPA’s OU-1 cost estimates do not appear to reflect the increased volume of
sediments that must be dredged because of existing and foreseeable land use
changes in and near the Harbor, and EPA has provided insufficient information to
quantify with precision the additional remedial costs that these changes will
require. However, the Coalition’s analysis indicates that simply applying the
EPA’s 1998 cleanup standards to increased residential and recreational use in the
Upper Harbor would add about $89 million to EPA’s current cost estimate.”

E. EPA’s 2012 Administrative Order and Subsequent Proposed
Settlement with AVX.

In April 2012, EPA issued a unilateral administrative order (“UAQ”) reopening its
legal action against AVX. That order directed that AVX expeditiously implement
an EPA-approved cleanup plan for the Site and bear the entire cost of the cleanup.
That order placed no limit on the monetary amount AVX was required to spend to
comply with the order and contained no release for future liabilities.”

%0 1d. at9Y 30, 31 and Exhibit H.
91
1d.
92
Id. at¥| 34.
% 1d. at 19.
M Id. at {35.
3 UAOQO, supra, at 55.
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On October 10, 2012, the United States Department of Justice on behalf of EPA
filed with the District Court a proposed “supplemental consent decree” that EPA
had negotiated with AVX. That decree would embody a settlement in which AVX
would pay a fixed sum of $366.25 million, plus interest, in exchange for immunity
from the United States and the Commonwealth for any past or future Site-related
liabilities.” The proposed settlement would delete all “reopener” provisions of the
1992 Consent Decree and withdraw the UAO that EPA had issued against AVX
six months earlier.”” The proposed settlement would also release AVX from
liability for all costs EPA has incurred at the Site to date; those costs are at least
$350 million in excess of amounts AVX and others paid under the previous
settlements.”® It would further provide a covenant not to sue and release AVX
from all liabilities for future Site remediation costs; this release would become
effective upon AVX’s final settlement payment two years hence.”

In its press release announcing the settlement, EPA stated that the AVX payment
“will provide the bulk of the funds needed to complete the remedy” and stated that
its estimated costs to complete the project were “between $393 and $401
million”.'” EPA did not refer in its discussion of its cost estimate or elsewhere to
an upside cost contingency, whether of 50% or merely 15%. In subsequent public
statements, EPA expressed confidence in the accuracy of its cost estimate to
complete the cleanup, citing its lengthy experience at the Site and the status of the
remedy selection process.'”' EPA also justified the settlement’s complete release
of AVX from future liability for cleanup costs and the absence of a cost-related
reopener on the grounds that EPA’s faced significant “litigation risks” if the case
were not settled.'®*

F. The Coalition’s Interest in the Site and Proposed Settlement.

The Coalition is a nonprofit membership organization dedicated to the restoration,
protection, and sustainable use and enjoyment of Buzzards Bay and its watershed,
including the Acushnet River and New Bedford Harbor. The Coalition has more

than 8,000 members, including approximately 1,300 members in the greater New
Bedford area.'™ Nearly 250 of its members live within 1000 yards of the Site.'®

% Supplemental Consent Decree, supra, at 8 and 15.

7 Id. at 15 and 4.
% BEPA has incurred costs of $456 million at the Site and received about $100 million under the 1991-92 settlements

discussed above. UAQ, supra, fn. 15. See also subsection B above.
% Supplemental Consent Decree, supra, at 15.

W EAQ 1, supra, at 3.

1T FAQ 11 at 2-3.

e FAQT, supra, at 2.

1% Rasmussen Decl., supra, at{y 4 and 5.

"™ 1d. atq7.
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The Coalition’s members include commercial fishermen who use the Harbor as
their home port, owners of businesses and residences near the contaminated Harbor
shoreline, recreational boaters, residents and visitors deprived of the use and of the
Harbor because the PCB contamination, and many others throughout the area
concerned about the contamination’s environmental impacts. Figure 1 on the
following page shows the residences and offices of Coalition members located near
the Harbor.'”

1% 1d. at 96 and Exhibit A.
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The Coalition and its members are dismayed about the PCB contamination of the
Harbor and its devastating impact on the environment, recreational activities,
education opportunities and commercial uses which the Harbor would otherwise
provide.'” For example, the Coalition and its members are concerned that the
clean-up levels established 14 years ago, which are as high as 50 ppm, will prove
to be insufficient to reduce PCB concentrations in local fish and lobster to levels
which permit safe human consumption.'"”’

In light of these concerns, the Coalition analyzed the cleanup criteria EPA is using
for the remediation of numerous river and other sediments contaminated with
PCBs. The analysis showed that the standard is 1 ppm at most sites, such as a
major remediation project in the Fox River in Wisconsin and at six sites supervised
by the EPA’s Region 1 office in Boston, including the Housatonic River cleanup in
Pittsfield.'”

In November of this year, a federal court in Wisconsin rejected legal challenges to
EPA’s 1 ppm PCB standard for the Fox River cleanup plan, even though EPA’s
estimated cleanup costs had risen to over $700 million.'” That court also endorsed
EPA’s decision to dredge and dispose of PCB sediments off-site in lieu of capping
them in the river, finding that under an on-site containment option, “the more
poisonous chemicals [would] be allowed to stay in the River.”'"°

EPA’s 1998 ROD determined that use of a 1 ppm cleanup standard for all Harbor
sediments would cause the volume of dredged sediment to increase to about 2.1
million cy, a volume nearly 2.5 times EPA’s current estimate.' '

The Coalition’s own property interests are also affected by the Site’s PCB
contamination. From 2004 to 2010 the Coalition’s headquarters were located at
620 Belleville Avenue, just south of the AVX Facility and directly on the banks of
some of the most polluted portions of the Upper Harbor.''* Its headquarters are
now located at 114 Front Street, adjacent to the Lower Harbor.'"

1% 14 at 910,

"7 1d. at 98.

1% 74 at 9938 — 43, and Exhibit J.

1% United States v. NRC Corp., et. al., 1:10-cv-00910-WCG Filed 11/21/12 and attached hereto as Attachment 8.
"% 14 (emphasis in original). The Fox River Decision also found that dredging and offsite disposal “removes the
toxic PCBs from the River for all time and places them in a secure off-site facility. Even if caps provide an adequate
solution, they will require maintenance in the long-term, . . . Caps can also affect the navigability of the River in
shallow areas or shipping channels, which adds further uncertainty especially if the water levels would decline ...
Finally, as the original ROD noted, capping could be susceptible to catastrophic events like floods.” /d. at 17-18.
"' 1998 ROD, supra, at 16.

12 Rasmussen Decl., supra, at 12
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As discussed in subsection D. above, for educational and natural resource
restoration enhancement, the Coalition owns 7.5 acres of Marsh Island located in
the Lower Harbor and holds rights under a conservation restriction on the
remainder of the Island. Marsh Island is the largest saltmarsh restoration project in
New Bedford Harbor. The Coalition acquired this property with funds from the
New Bedford Trustee Council for the specific purpose of restoring them to their
natural state and thereafter preserving water quality, wildlife habitat, and public
access to the surrounding natural resources.'' To enhance the Harbor’s restoration
and public access to it, the Coalition also owns 67 acres at the Acushnet Saw Mill
and adjacent LaPalme Riverfront Farm, both located on the Acushnet River north
of the AVX Facility."”

II. EPA SHOULD WITHDRAW THE PROPOSED “SUPPLEMENTAL”
DECREE AND MODIFY IT TO INCLUDE “REOPENER”
PROVISIONS ALLOWING EPA TO SEEK AVX’S
REIMBURSEMENT OF FUTURE REMEDIAL COSTS EXCEEDING
EPA’S CURRENT ESTIMATE.

The U.S. Department of Justice on behalf of EPA has solicited public comments on
EPA’s proposed settlement with AVX, which would be embodied in a
“supplement” to the 1992 Consent Decree. The Coalition welcomes EPA’s
recognition—albeit belated—that the pace of the cleanup has been unacceptably
slow, that the agency has insufficient resources to implement an effective cleanup,
and that AVX 1s the only entity with the legal responsibility and financial viability
to complete such a cleanup. The Coalition would likewise support a settlement of
the litigation with AVX that assured that the Harbor will be completely restored,
whether or not the cost of restoration exceeds EPA’s current estimate.

However, the Coalition must oppose the proposed settlement because it would
eviscerate all protections in the 1992 decree allowing EPA to obtain additional
funding from AVX if necessary to expeditiously complete an effective remedy.
Two of these protections are critical in the particular circumstances of this Site:

a) a “reopener” provision, preserving the EPA’s right to seek additional funds from
AVX if the ultimate costs to complete the remedy exceed EPA’s current estimate;
and 2) a provision providing that EPA’s release of AVX’s future liabilities and
covenant not to sue does not become effective until EPA certifies the remedy to be
complete and effective. A settlement without these provisions is both contrary to

114 14 at 9917 and 18 and Exhibits C and D.
3 1d. at 922.
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the public interest and the statutory mandate that governs EPA’s authority to settle
this type of enforcement action.

As explained in Section I above, AVX is the only viable source of funds to
complete the Harbor’s restoration if costs to complete the project exceed EPA’s
current estimate of $393 million. Notwithstanding EPA’s unsubstantiated
contentions to the contrary, the costs ultimately required to achieve an effective
cleanup remains completely uncertain. Over time, as EPA’s remedial plans
continue to evolve and unanticipated circumstances arise, costs to complete the
project will likely escalate substantially over EPA’s current—and very
unreliable—estimate. Thus, giving AVX an absolute, no-opener release effective
before the project’s completion could well deny the government and the
community adequate funds for the Harbor’s complete restoration. Furthermore, as
set forth in Subsections B and C below, a settlement which denies EPA the right to
obtain further relief if its current cost estimates prove once again to be understated
cannot be justified by exaggerated assertions of litigation risks or by supposed
exceptions to the governing statute which denies EPA the authority to enter into
such a settlement.

A.  The Proposed Settlement With AVX—the Primary Polluter and
Only Financially Viable Party— is Not in the Public Interest
Unless it is Modified to Include Cost Reopeners.

Decades after the discovery of PCB and other toxic contamination of the Harbor,
and notwithstanding EPA’s expenditure of substantial sums at the Site,
unacceptable threats to human health and the environment are still pervasive. In its
April 2012 UAQO, EPA documented these threats as follows:

» Tidal action annually transports PCBs from the Upper to the Lower
Harbor and over one-half of these contaminants are carried from the
Lower Harbor to the Outer Harbor area of Buzzards Bay.''®

» Seafood from the Harbor “continues to be contaminated at levels that are
orders of magnitude above” public health risk standards, creating cancer
risks as high as “1 in 1000.”'"’

» Existing PCB levels along the Harbor shoreline remain “significantly
higher than those levels deemed protective” by EPA.'"®

» In the Upper Harbor, “the probability of pore water PCBs’ being toxic to
marine fish...approaches certainty.”' "’

"6 yAo, supra, at 6.
" 1d. at 16.
18 g
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» Total catches and earnings of New Bedford’s lobster, quahog, and other
seafood industries, have significantly decreased since 1979 as a result of
closures necessitated by the Harbor’s PCB contamination.'>’

» The Harbor’s PCB contamination has reduced the use and value of its
recreational resources and waterfront property values.'*'

In short, although EPA recognized over 30 years ago that the Harbor’s PCB
contamination posed serious risks and has taken partial steps to address the
situation, EPA today acknowledges that the lion’s share of the contaminated
Harbor sediments are still untouched by the cleanup and the community’s health
and natural resources continue to be endangered.

Clearly, the need for a prompt and effective cleanup of the Harbor is more urgent
than ever and a reasonable settlement with AVX could help accomplish this goal,
However, in assessing the reasonableness of a CERLA settlement, reviewing
courts assess its “likely efficaciousness as a vehicle of cleansing the environment is
of cardinal importance.”'** In this case, a proposed cash-out settlement with an
absolute release as to future liabilities can accomplish this goal only if there is
certainty that either (1) other sources of funding will be immediately available in
the event that the settlement amount proves insufficient to complete an
environmentally-protective remedy; or (2) the cost of an environmentally-
protective remedy will not exceed the EPA’s current cost estimates.
Unfortunately, because there is nothing approaching certainty about either
requirement, the proposed settlement is not an “efficacious vehicle” for the
Harbor’s restoration.

1. Other than AVX, there is no viable source of funding for a
timely cleanup.

In its public comments about this settlement, EPA reviewed the current financial
status of other potentially responsible parties and essentially conceded that AVX is
the only available source of funding for the cleanup.'* That is clearly correct.

Indisputably, the AVX Facility was primarily responsible for PCB contamination
at the Site'** and AVX has the financial resources to underwrite the costs for an

"9 1d. at§53.

120 7. at 1956-57,

! 1d. at 1958-59.

122 Cannons, 889 F2d 79 (1st Cir. 1990).

B FAQ 11, supra, at 3-4. See Section I above at subsection C.
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effective remedy. In its current filings as a public-traded company, AVX reports
annual revenue over $1 billion and assets over $2 billion. Its controlling
shareholder is a Japanese multinational with annual sales of more than $14 billion,
including substantial dividends that AVX pays to it.'>> As such, AVX’s business
would not be threatened even if remedial costs proved to be much higher than
EPA’s current estimate.

As a practical matter, there are no other private parties available to contribute to
the cleanup. While one other facility contributed some PCB contamination to the
Outer Harbor, its present and former owners are either out of business or have
received liability releases from EPA. This is likewise the case as to all of the other
potentially responsible parties that EPA named in this litigation."*®

Nor is EPA a viable source of funds for the project’s expeditious completion. In
1995 Congress repealed the taxes once used to replenish the “Superfund” trust
fund to finance EPA’s remedial actions, so that today EPA’s only source of
cleanup funds is annual Congressionally-appropriated general revenues,'*’
Significantly, as early as 2002, when EPA had expended all of the monies that the
PRPs paid for earlier settlements in this case, EPA determined that it could afford
to spend only $15 million annually for remedial action at the Harbor even though it
then estimated the cleanup would cost over $317 million to complete.'*®

Given the depletion of the Superfund trust fund and the financial straits of the U.S.
and Commonwealth governments more generally, there is little likelihood that
sufficient government monies will be available in the future to finance the cleanup
of the Harbor on any reasonable time scale. EPA itself has acknowledged that,
given the “state of the national economy,” there is “no guarantee” that additional
funding for the project “will materialize year in and year out.”'* The proposed
“supplement” to the 1992 consent decree provides no assurance that any funding
will be available in the event the AVX settlement payment proves insufficient to
complete an environmentally-protective remedy. Tellingly, in its public statements

12 EPA’s early investigations confirmed that the facility was the “primary source of PCBs released” to the Harbor
and tests near the facility in 2008 revealed it also to be a source of high levels of contamination by volatile organic
compounds. UAO, supra, 174-5.

125 See Section 1 above at subsection A.

126 Soe Section 1 above at subsection B.

127 See Section 1 above at subsection C.

128 Jd In fact, EPA determined that under this “limited funding” scenario it would take at least 40 more years for the
remedial action to be finished and lamented that “funding levels are so low as to cause significant project delays and
inefficiencies.” UAOQ, supra, at 11-12.

1292011 ESD, supra, Attachment A at 20. See generally, Government Accountability Office Report, GAO-10-380,
igsued May 6, 2010, available at www.gao.gov/products/GAO-10-380.
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about the adequacy of funds to pay for the cleanup if the AVX settlement payment
proves to be inadequate, EPA has said it only would “seek” monies from the
Superfund Trust and the Commonwealth."”" These are the same sources that have
been unable to provide adequate funds for a timely cleanup over the past ten
years."”!

In sum, since the AVX is the only reliable source of funding for all future cleanup
costs, a settlement providing AVX with immunity for any future liabilities in
exchange for a fixed sum payment is obviously fraught with “risks,” as EPA itself
concedes.'* Unfortunately, as shown below, these risks are much higher and have
many more serious implications than EPA seems willing to recognize.

2. The costs of EPA’s remedy are likely to be much higher than
the AVX settlement payment.

Since AVX is the only viable source of future funding for this project, a cash-out
settlement and an immediate release of all of AVX’s future liabilities can be
justified only if there is certainty that the future costs of an expeditious,
environmentally-protective remedy will not significantly exceed AVX’s settlement
payment. That payment is about 90% of EPA’s current future cost estimate of $393
to $401 million. However, as shown below, this estimate is fraught with
uncertainly and is likely to prove well understated for at least five reasons:

a)  EPA already recognizes that its currently-selected remedial plan needs
to be expanded because of land use changes;

b)  Other factors are also likely to escalate the costs of EPA’s current
remedial plan such as the fact that there is no ROD for OU3, the 17,000 acres of
the Outer Harbor;

c) A fully-protective remedial plan will cost much more than EPA’s
current plan;

d)  EPA has consistently poor track record in estimating the remedial
costs at this Site; and

130 FAQ I, supra, at 2,

1 EPA suggestion that NOAA might fund future cleanup costs (FAQ I, supra, at 3) is not credible. The U.S.
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, in its capacity as the Harbor’s natural resources trustee, and
AVX already entered into a settlement that contains no cost-related reopener. /d. Even if the settlement did not bar
future claims, the trustee likely has standing to seek only additional damages to natural resources, not to require re-
imbursement of EPA’s cleanup costs.

B2EAQII, supra, at 4.
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e)  Notwithstanding standard industry practice and EPA’s own Cost
Guidance, EPA’s cost estimates contain no contingency or uncertainty factor.

o The Cost of EPA’s Currently-Selected Remedy Will
Escalate Due to Changes in Land Use and Activities In
and Near the Harbor.

As EPA is well aware, its estimates of the cost of cleaning up New Bedford Harbor
are keyed directly to its calculations of the amount of contaminated sediment it
must dredge and dispose of to comply with the cleanup standards it has
established. Likewise, more extensive dredging is obviously required in areas of
human exposure where cleanup standards are the most stringent. EPA’s most
stringent cleanup level for the Site — 1 ppm — is applicable to locations bordering
residential and public recreational areas compared to those adjacent to areas of
minimal human exposure.'”

EPA has recognized that, because of land use changes, the areas of the Harbor
subject to this more stringent standard have increased substantially since 1992 and
continue to increase. In a 2010 report, EPA stated that it “expected that additional
shoreline properties developed before remediation occurs will trigger more
stringent shoreline clean-up standards.”"** Other documents also reflect EPA’s
awareness that a number of industrial buildings near the Harbor have already
converted to residential use and that the City of New Bedford is planning to
construct facilities designed to enhance boating and other recreational activities by
the public on and near the Harbor.'”

Because EPA itself expects stringency of cleanup standards to be increased in
some areas, there will necessarily be a significant escalation of the volume of
sediment that must be dredged and necessarily an increase in the costs to complete
the cleanup. However, as of October, 2012, EPA had “not yet evaluated” these
land use changes in and around the Harbor'*® and thus obviously has not accounted
for these changes in its current cost estimate. .

In addition to increased residential use near the Harbor, EPA’s cost estimates do
not take account of the increasing public access to areas abutting the Harbor for
educational restoration, and recreational purposes. One example of particular
interest to the Coalition involves enhanced public access to the Marsh Island in the

133 gee Section I above at subsection C.
342010 Review, supra, at Section 7.2.4.
S UAOQ, supra, at 24-25.

B8 FAQ 1L, supra, at 10.
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Lower Harbor. The Coalition plans to create a large publicly-accessible natural
riverfront reserve on this property and to develop walking trails in areas where
access opportunities are now limited or non-existent.””” Funding for this project
comes from the New Bedford Harbor Trustee Council’s Natural Resource
Damages funds allocated from the 1991 and 1992 settlements with respect to this
Site.”*® Although EPA has apparently assumed the cleanup standards for this area
need be only 25 to 50 ppm, the planned use of Marsh Island will trigger a required
cleanup to 1 ppm in accordance with EPA’s 1998 standards and thus increase the
volume of sediments that must be dredged.”*® Likewise, the City’s planned River
Trail along the Harbor shoreline, and other facilities promoting the Harbor’s
enhanced recreational use, will also trigger a cleanup level lower than that assumed
under EPA’s current cost estimates, thus increasing the volume of sediments to be
dredged.'*’

Based on the cleanup standards established by EPA in the 1998 ROD, the
Coalition has determined that, at a minimum, the entire western intertidal zone of
the Upper Harbor and the March Island area in the Lower Harbor now quality for a
cleanup to a 1 ppm standard because of existing and anticipated public use and
human exposure in these areas.'*' Because EPA has not considered these land use
developments in its current cost estimate, it is difficult to quantify with precision
the magnitude of additional costs that must be added to its current estimate to
account for these changes. However, the Coalition’s analysis indicate that simply
applying the EPA’s 1998 standards to current and planned public uses in and near
the Harbor could add at least another $90 million to EPA’s most recent cost
estimates.'*

b. Other factors are likely to significantly increase the
volume of dredged sediments and corresponding costs of
the project.

In addition to land use changes, several other factors will likely cause the costs of
implementing EPA’s remedial plans to increase significantly beyond its current
estimate.

First, and foremost, EPA’s current cost estimate contains a glaring omission: it
entirely ignores the costs required to cleanup OU-3, the 17,000 acres in the Outer

137 Rasmussen Decl., supra, at 7920 and 21.
B8 1d. at 9§24,

%9 1d. at 19.

10 See Section I at subsection D.

" Rasmussen Decl., supra, at 7925-27.

%2 1. at 35.
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Harbor where commercial fishing is banned. Although significant amounts of
PCBs continue to be carried into the Outer Harbor each year,'” EPA has yet to
decide how to remedy this contamination, much less estimate the additional costs
of doing so. One thing is certain: Those OU-3 costs will increase the total cleanup
costs beyond those thus far estimated by EPA.

That is not all. EPA itself has determined that its model is “underestimating the
depth to which dredging is required” to remove contaminated sediments in the
Upper Harbor. '** EPA has further recognized that “at this site, due to poor
disposal practices of the past, the more one looks for PCB’s in the harbor
sediments and the marshes, the more one finds.”"* Thus, EPA acknowledges
specifically and generally that it must dredge more contaminated sediments that it
has estimated and its costs will be correspondingly greater.

EPA’s current cost estimates are also understated because the EPA contractor that
developed the estimate apparently developed it on the assumption that AVX would
undertake the remediation.'*® But since EPA has abandoned its April 2012 UAO
requiring AVX to complete the project, EPA now plans to undertake the work
itself. Experience has shown that, when EPA takes responsibility for
implementing a remedial project in lieu of a private party, costs for the same scope
of work are at least 20% higher.'"”’ This consideration alone adds over $80 million
to EPA’s current estimate.

In sum, because EPA itself anticipates that the volume of sediments that must be
dredged will significantly exceed current expectations and that the ultimate costs of
the remedial plan EPA eventually implements are necessarily uncertain at best, the
remedial costs incurred to restore the Site could well prove to be much more
substantial than EPA’s most recent prognosis.

c. EPA’s “low cost” remedial design could well prove
ineffective once implemented.

Regardless of EPA’s necessary modifications to the scope of its currently-selected
plan to account for land use changes discussed above, there is considerable
uncertainty whether the remedy it implements will prove adequate to protect

3 See Background and Introduction Section above.

42010 Review, supra, at Section 7.2 4,

2011 ESD, supra, Attachment A at 4.

¢ EPA’s cost estimate is cited in its UAQ, supra, at 13 n.7; the UAO ordered AVX itself to perform all future
remedial work. 7d. at 30.

7 Katherine Probst, Testimony Prepared for U.S. Senate Subcommittee on Superfund, Waste Control and Risk
Assessment, March 10, 1995 at 4, available at http://www.rff.org/RFF/Documents/RFF-CTst-95-probst. pdf.
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human health and the environment because: 1) the performance standards EPA
adopted in 1998 for the cleanup of most Harbor areas are less stringent than EPA
now requires at comparable PCB sites, and i1) EPA’s plan for the on-site
“containment” of dredged contaminated sediments is an unproven approach that is
much less protective than off-site disposal.

(i) Inadequate Cleanup Standards: The standards EPA adopted in the
1998 ROD for dredging most of the Site are much less protective than those used
by EPA at other PCB sites. Except in areas of human exposure, those standards
range from 10 to 50 ppm. In contrast, EPA has imposed a standard of 1 ppm for
all PCB-laden sediments at most similar aquatic sites, including six sites
supervised by the EPA’s Boston regional office. The Sites where this more
stringent standard are being used include comparably-sized projects involving the
Housatonic River in Pittsfield, Massachusetts and the Fox River in Green Bay,
Wisconsin.'*® A federal court recently rejected challenges to EPA’s cleanup
standard of 1 ppm for the Fox River site.'*’

Nevertheless, EPA has indicated that it does not plan to change its 1998 cleanup
standards for the New Bedford Harbor even though for some areas of the Harbor
they are up to 50 times less protective than the criteria in use at similar sites."”"
This does not augur well for the ultimate effectiveness of EPA’s remedial plan.
The Outboard Marine site in Lake County, Illinois provides a highly relevant
example of how initial use of a lax cleanup standard can result in greater future
costs. There, EPA implemented a plan to dredge Waukegan River using a PCB
cleanup standard of 50 ppm. EPA had to take additional remedial action when
post-completion monitoring revealed that PCB levels in fish tissue continued to
significantly exceed the applicable human consumption criteria. As a result, EPA
issued a ROD Amendment in October 2009, using a revised cleanup standard of 1
ppm and thus requiring substantial additional dredging at substantial cost.""

This scenario could easily be repeated in the Harbor cleanup. Like the ineffective
plan at the Outboard Marine site, EPA is using cleanup standards for the Harbor as
high as 50 ppm. The 1998 ROD recognized that, to meet the mandated PCB level
of .02 ppm in fish within ten years, the Harbor’s cleanup standard must be 1 ppm
for all sediments and that even using a Site-wide cleanup standard of 10 ppm
would fail to achieve this goal."”> If post-remediation monitoring of fish tissue

1% See Section 1 above at subsection F.
149

Id,
BOEAQ 11 at 8-10.
31 See Section I above at subsection C.
152 Id
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demonstrates that human consumption continues to be unsafe and that a 1 ppm
cleanup standard must be used throughout the Site, additional remedial work to
satisfy this standard more than double the volume of sediment that must be
dredged and have a comparable impact on remedial costs."*”

(11) Unprotective Sediment Disposal Plans: The effectiveness of
EPA’s planned disposal of sediments from the Lower Harbor also is doubtful.
According to EPA’s current plan, a CAD cell will be dug in the Lower Harbor
floor and sediments dredged from the Lower Harbor will be dumped into those
cells.™ The long-term effectiveness of using CAD cells to contain these
contaminated materials permanently on the Harbor’s bottom remains unproven at
best. This is the same technology EPA unsuccessfully tried in a pilot program at
the Harbor and that EPA studied and rejected in 1990 for use in the OU-1
remedy."”’ More recently, after EPA dumped and covered CAD cells in its PCB
cleanup of the Puget Sound harbor in Washington, elevated levels of PCB’s were
detected outside the cells due to inadequate remedial work."”® As a result,
additional remedial actions were required. Furthermore, CAD cells have never
been used to contain sediments as contaminated as those at the Site."*’

In sum, EPA’s use of unprotective cleanup standards and in-situ containment
strategies for this Site may be appear less costly in the short run, but if they prove
ineffective, substantial additional work and expense will be required. Because
CERCLA section 113(h) prevents anyone from initiating legal action to challenge
EPA’s remedy selection before the remedial action is completed, EPA is free to
ignore concermns about the effectiveness of its remedial plans for the Harbor.
Nevertheless, there can be no certainty at this juncture whether the remedy upon
which EPA bases its current cost estimate will ultimately prove effective or
whether additional actions and attendant expenditures will be required.
Unfortunately, under the proposed settlement, AVX will be released from any
further liability long before the effectiveness the remedy can be definitively
assessed and long before costly additional work is undertaken to address any
deficiencies revealed by that assessment.

In its public statements, EPA has contended that the settlement will have “no
effect” on the remedy it selects for this Site and “does not limit” future changes to

153 See Section I above at subsection E.
154
Id.
155 11
156 Id
157 Id
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the remedy."”® This is simply not so. By granting a covenant not to sue years

before completion of the remedy and omitting any cost-related reopener, EPA
would impale itself on the horns of an unacceptable dilemma: EPA must either
ignore evidence that the needed remedy will cost much more than AVX’s fixed
payment or it must confront the likelihood that there will be insufficient funds to
promptly implement such a remedy. Plainly, the public interest is disserved by a
settlement that would impose such a dilemma.

d. EPA’s many cost estimates at the Site over the last
20 years have consistently proven to be
significantly understated.

As shown above, the reasonableness of the proposed settlement depends entirely
on whether AVX’s fixed settlement payment will cover most future remedial costs
at the Site. EPA’s assurances that this is so are belied by EPA’s 20-year history of
consistently and significantly underestimating future remedial costs at this Site.

In 1992 after EPA conducted an extensive feasibility study of the OU-1 remedy, it
1ssued a proposed remedial plan. The estimated present-value future cost of that
plan was approximately $33 million, not including a 50% upside contingency
factor. In seeking the District Court’s approval of its settlement with AVX in
1992, EPA advised the court that $35 million of the settlement payment would be
allocated to future costs of the OU-1 remedy."”” NWF opposed the settlement,
arguing that EPA’s cost estimates were unreliable and that the settlement should
not be approved until the costs were more certain. However, EPA assured the
court that its cost estimates were firmly grounded on a “wealth” of data, “years of
information,” “expert” evaluations, and “multi-volume comprehensive” studies.'®
Further, while EPA acknowledged that there could be “some exposure if the
remedy costs are higher than the government anticipated,” it emphasized that this
exposure “was mitigated greatly by the reopeners,” particularly the $130 million
cost reopener.m

It soon became clear that EPA’s cost estimate had been greatly understated. EPA’s
1998 ROD somewhat modified the 1990 plan and estimated the present value cost
of the ROD plan to be almost four times its earlier estimate, or $115 million ($188
million fully-funded over time).'®* The 1998 estimate, too, soon proved illusory.

ko FAQ 1, supra, at 4.

"% DOJ Memorandum, supra, at 2, 10, footnote 5.

10 14 at 10. See also Section I above at subsection B.
'®! DOJ Reply Memorandum, supra, at 7.

162 Gee Section I above at subsection C.
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In 2002, after making two significant modifications to the 1998 ROD, EPA revised
its estimate of the fully-funded cleanup costs to be $317 million and thus nearly
twice its 1998 estimate. By 2011, after additional design changes, EPA’s most
conservative cost estimate had risen another 40% to $393 million (present value)
and $422 million (fully-funded).'®

Thus, since the 1992 AVX settlement, EPA’s cost estimates for remediation of the
OU-1 portion of the Site have risen ten-fold, from $33 million to at least $393
million. Even taking account of inflation, project duration and other factors, EPA
concedes that its current estimate is five times higher than its original estimate.'®
At each instance in which its cost estimates have increased, EPA has expressed
confidence in its estimate, citing “comprehensive studies” and a “wealth” of other
site-related information.'® To date, EPA has expended over $456 million to study
and cleanup the Site, and yet a substantial majority of the contaminated sediments
have yet to be remediated. Now, again, in support of the proposed settlement, EPA
states that it has confidence in its current $393 million estimate because of even
more studies and other information available to it. Given its record at this Site,
EPA’s assurances about the accuracy of its current estimate ring particularly
hollow.

e Despite standard practice and EPA’s own Guidance,
EPA’s current estimate contains no “contingency” factor

Especially in light of the uncertainties about the scope and effectiveness of EPA’s
remedial plans, and the historical record of EPA’s significantly underestimating
future costs at this Site, it is remarkable that EPA’s current cleanup cost estimate of
$393 million includes “contingency” factor whatsoever. The absence of such a
factor is inconsistent with standard industry practice and with EPA’s own guidance
for Superfund cleanup projects. Under that guidance, a cleanup cost estimate
“always” should include an upside factor of up to 50% for projects where the final
remedial design has not yet been completed.'

Inits 2011 ESD, EPA recognized that its cost estimate of $393 million should
include a contingency factor, but it contended that a factor of no more than 15%
should be applied.'®” Now, in support of its settlement proposal, EPA merely

163 Id

12011 ESD, Attachment A at 42.

165 6oe Section 1 above at subsection B and C.
186 goe Section I above at subsection C.

17 1d. at 17.
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argues that $393 million is “most accurate” because it reflects a remedial plan
which is already “in place right now.”'*®

EPA’s contentions in this regard have no factual basis. As noted, the EPA report
that contains EPA’s current estimate expressly stated that it assumed an upside
contingency factor of up to 50%.'® Moreover, the OU-1 remedial plan design has
not been finalized. EPA has advised that it will soon begin re-evaluating the entire
disposal component of the Upper Harbor remedial plan. EPA’s current plan calls
for disposal in yet-to-be constructed structures along the shore; EPA once had
similar plans for disposal of Lower Harbor sediments but abandoned them in 2002
in favor of off-site disposal.'”

An alternative strategy would be to transport dredged sediments off-site for
destruction, as EPA did for sediments from the “hot spot” cleanup in the Upper
Harbor and at the Fox River site. As EPA and the federal court recognized in the
Fox River cleanup, that more costly approach would be much more protective of
human health and the environment than on-site containment.'’' Thus, EPA’s
current estimate overlooks significant changes to the current remedial plan that
may flow from its re-evaluation of the Upper Harbor remedy that EPA shortly
plans to undertake.'”

Further, design of EPA’s currently-selected remedy for the Lower Harbor was not
begun until after preparation of the current cost estimate and still has not been
completed.'” The history of EPA’s remedy selection process for the Lower
Harbor also provides no assurance that EPA’s current conceptual plan for this area
will be its final one. EPA’s OU-1 feasibility study issued in 1990 expressly
rejected the option of dumping the dredged sediments into on-site CAD cells.
Rather, EPA opted for the dredging and disposal of contaminated sediments in
CDF structures constructed at the shoreline. In 2002, EPA abandoned this
approach in favor of off-site transport and disposal in a licensed landfill,
technology used for the disposal of the “hot spot” sediments. In 2011, EPA
changed its mind again and opted for disposal in on-site CAD cells—the same
remedy EPA studied and rejected 20 years earlier.'”*

18 FAQ Il at 2.

1% June 21, 2010 Cost Estimates, supra, at 1.

"% See Section I above at subsection C. In 2011 reversed its decision and opted for on-site containment. Id.
7! See Section I above at subsection F.
172 Rasmussen Decl. at 49 and Exhibit L.
"B FAQII, supra, at 7.

174 See Section I at subsection C.
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Therefore, despite EPA’s protestations, the final design of the remedial plans for
the Site and not “in place right now” and the estimated costs of the remedy to be
ultimately implemented are necessarily subject to substantial uncertainties and
unanticipated contingencies. Since EPA’s $393 million estimate reflects no
contingency factor, it is obviously significantly understated. A contingency factor
as low as 15% is clearly inappropriate given the absence of a final remedial plan;
in light of these circumstances and EPA’s own guidance, a 50% contingency factor
alone 1s the more appropriate one. In any event, application of a contingency factor
increases EPA’s current cost estimate by $60 to $400 million.

The Coalition and AVX disagree about many aspects of the Harbor cleanup. It is,
nonetheless, difficult to quarrel with AVX’s critique of EPA’s remedy selection
and cost-estimation record at this Site over the past 20 years:

EPA’s track record of routinely changing its mind and incrementally
modifying the remedy provides little comfort that this latest incarnation is
the final version or even something likely to be implemented in the form
presented. Nor can there be any confidence that the estimated cost today is
anything near what the OU1 remedy will ultimately cost.'”

* #* * *

In sum, even if EPA had a reliable record in this case regarding cost estimates and
at this Site (which it obviously does not), at this juncture there are simply too many
uncertainties regarding the ultimate scope and cost of a protective remedy to justify
providing a no-reopener cash-out to the only entity able to fund a timely and
complete cleanup of the massive damage it caused. The proposed settlement is
therefore clearly contrary to the public interest.

B. EPA Exaggerates the Litigation Risks It Confronts in this Case.

One of EPA’s principal justifications for its proposed fixed-sum, no-reopening
settlement 1s its boilerplate contention that a fixed sum, no-reopener settlement
with AVX is justified because the absence of a settlement “would likely mean
years of complex litigation, including litigation over novel legal and significant
technical issues, with an uncertain outcome.”'’® As a matter of law, this assertion
significantly overstates the litigation risks posed in this instance.

73 Nutter Letter, supra, at 6.
7 FAQ I, supra, at 2.
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CERLA, the applicable federal enforcement statue, imposes liability on any past or
present owner or operator of a facility from which hazardous substances were at
any time released. CERCLA’s liability is “sweeping” and “super-strict.”'”’ That
is, the government is not obligated to show that a party was negligent or even
aware of the release. The government need prove only that there was a release of
hazardous substances from the defendant’s property. /d. It is also well-settled that
a party is “retroactively” liable for its releases whenever they occurred, even if
they pre-dated CERCLA’s enactment in 1981.'"

In this case, AVX is the current owner of the only facility on the Upper Harbor
shoreline that manufactured PCB-laden products. Highly toxic concentrations of
PCB contamination up to 100,000 parts per million have been found in “hot spots”
adjacent to the AVX facility and there is uncontradicted evidence that huge
quantities of PCBs were released to the environment from this facility over a 30-
year period ending with federal PCB ban in 1979.'” As such, AVX is clearly a
“liable” party under CERCLA section 107(a) and its liability would not be difficult
or time-consuming to prove as a matter of law.

AVX’s defense that there were also other sources of the Harbor’s PCB
contamination is irrelevant as a matter of law to its liability for the entire clean-up.
CECLA imposes joint and several liability where, as here, the damages are
indivisible. '* Further, all other potentially responsible parties have resolved their
liability with EPA and are essentially judgment-proof.'®! Therefore, this case is no
longer burdened by issues about the liabilities of other parties or the division of
clean-up costs among various entities. Nor would re-opening the case against
AVX involve issues about natural resource damages and insurance coverage that
were so time-consuming in the earlier phase of the litigation.

Further, the detection of contaminants other than PCBs in the Harbor does not add
to the legal or technical complexity of this case. The cost of the remedy selected
by EPA is driven entirely by PCB-related clean-up standards; thus, while other
contaminants may be collected during the dredging of PCB-laden sediments, it is
the presence of PCBs that is the sole basis for the remedial action at issue.'®

77 See United States v. Best Foods, 524 U.S. 51, 56 n.1 (1998); and United States v. Burlington Northern Railway
Co., 479 F.3d 1113, 1124 (9th Cir, 2007) overruled on other grounds, sub. nom. Burlington Northern & Santa Fe
Ry. v. United States, 556 U.S, 599, 617-618 (2009).

'8 See, e.g., United States v. Olin Corp., 107 F.3d 1506, 1513 (11th Cir, 1997),

' See 44 Fed. Reg. 31514 (May 31, 1979) (forbidding use of PCBs for most purposes. See also Section I above at
subsection A.

1% See Chem. Nuclear Systems, Inc. v. Bush, 292 F.3d 254, 259 (D.C. Cir. 2002).

81 See Section I above at subsection B,

" FAQT, supra, at 1.
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Additionally, although AVX may have concerns about the EPA’s remedy selection
and the costs of those remedies, CERCLA section 113(h) bars judicial review of
those issues until remedial work has been completed. Therefore, EPA’s
enforcement action against AVX would not be prolonged by these issues.

Finally, the 1992 Consent Decree allowed EPA to re-open the case against AVX if
any of three circumstances occurred: unknown conditions were discovered, new
information came to light, or response costs exceeded a specified amount,
Although a reopener could be triggered by any of these circumstances, EPA’s
UAO in April 2012 presented compelling evidence that each of these
circumstances has occurred.'® Again, it would not take a great deal of EPA’s time
or effort to prove to the court’s satisfaction that the prerequisites for reopening its
case against AVX had been satisfied. And if there were any uncertainty about
EPA’s success in this regard, the government would have the option of moving the
District Court to vacate its approval of the 1992 Consent Decree in the interests of
justice and changed circumstances.'**

The likelihood of EPA’s success in any “re-opened” litigation against AVX is
illustrated by the recent federal court decision regarding the Fox River site. There,
parties responsible for PCB contamination of the Fox River in Green Bay,
Wisconsin challenged an EPA order requiring them to remediate the site at an
estimated cost of over $700 million. The defendants objected to the order on
numerous grounds, several similar to AVX’s defenses here, all of which the court
rejected on summary judgment.'® Therefore, the governments’ concerns about
“litigation risks” in this case appear wholly inconsistent with the facts of this case
and governing law.

It is also noteworthy that this is the third settlement AVX has agreed to in this case.
This most recent settlement would involve its payment of a substantial sum. Since
AVX no longer operates its business in the New Bedford area, this payment clearly
is not an effort to foster “good will” in the community. Rather, it obviously
reflects the determination of AVX’s management and its able attorneys that AVX
has no viable defenses to avoid liability for all costs of the PCB clean-up at this
Site. Moreover, a settlement that included a cost-related reopener and delayed the
effectiveness of the covenant not to sue should still be attractive to AVX since
EPA has agreed to forego at least $325 million in past cost claims not covered by

¥ UAO, supra, at 21-28.
1 See Fed. R. Civ. P. 60.
18 See Section I above at subsection F.
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earlier settlements.'®® Furthermore, a cost reopener would still allow AVX to
pursue its liability objections if the re-opener were triggered.

Further, EPA and Commonwealth officials knew 10 years ago that clean-up costs
had exceeded the reopener cost trigger and that they had insufficient resources to
implement an expeditious clean-up of the Harbor."®" If the governments were truly
worried that reopened litigation against AVX would be prolonged, they could and
should have initiated that legal action at that time. It is not in the public interest for
governmental inaction to justify an inadequate settlement.

Accordingly, the contention that “litigation risks” provide a credible basis
unconditionally to settle AVX’s liability without a cost-related reopener in
exchange for a fixed sum payment is plainly without merit.

C.  The Proposed Settlement is Inconsistent with EPA’s Statutory
Obligations.

Any settlement proposed by EPA for the District Court’s approval must be
“faithful to the objectives of the governing statute.”'® Here, the governing statute
is CERCLA, and particularly Section 122, as amended in 1986 and 2002. That
section seeks to encourage settlements but circumscribes to a great extent EPA’s
authority to settle cases involving future liabilities. As the District Court held in
this case in rejecting an earlier settlement with AVX, “the thrust of this subsection
is to ensure that the federal government, and thus ultimately the taxpayer, does not
bear the costs of future unknown damages.”’® Indeed, the court in that decision
thoroughly documented that Section 122’s legislative history reflects “the
Congressional concern that potentially responsible parties shall remain liable if an
agreed upon settlement proves inadequate to protect the environment and the
public health.”'” As explained below, the proposed settlement is not faithful to
these Congressional concerns or its mandate and therefore should be modified to
delay the effective date of the covenant not to sue and to include a reopener.

1. EPA'’s authority to settle CERCLA cases is statutorily limited.

Subsection 122(f)(1)(A) authorizes EPA to “provide any person with a covenant
not to sue concerning any liability to the United States under this chapter,

1% See Section I above at subsection E.

"7 See Section I above at subsection C.

'8 United States v. Cannons Engineering Corp., supra, at 84.

:2: In Re Acushnet River & New Bedford Harbor: Proceedings Re Alleged PCB Pollution, supra, at 1037,
ld.
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including future liability...,” but only under circumstances where a covenant not to
sue is in the “public interest.”'”" With respect to the public interest condition,
subsection 122(f)(4) states that a number of factors must be considered, including
the following:

(A) The effectiveness and reliability of the remedy, in light of the other
alternative remedies considered for the facility concerned.

(B) The nature of the risks remaining at the facility....

(D) The extent to which the response action provides a complete remedy
for the facility, including a reduction in the hazardous nature of the
substances at the facility.

(E) The extent to which the technology used in the response action is
demonstrated to be effective.

(F) Whether the [Superfund Trust] Fund or other sources of funding
would be available for any additional remedial actions that might eventually
be necessary at the facility....

Moreover, subsection 122(f)(3) provides unequivocally that “[a] covenant not to
sue concerning future liability to the United States shall not take effect until the
President certifies that remedial action has been completed in accordance with the
requirements of this Act at the facility that is the subject of such covenant.”
(emphasis added).

Accordingly, EPA is not authorized to provide a settling party with a covenant not
~ sue as to future liabilities unless, infer alia, it has met all of the public interest
conditions set forth in subsection 122(f)(1)(A), based on the factors listed in
subsection 122(f)(4), as well as the other factors set forth in subsection
122(£)(1)(B)-(D); and unless any such covenant is crafted such that it will not take
effect until after EPA’s certification of completion of the remedial action.

Further, even where a covenant not to sue is authorized and has been properly
crafted with respect to its effective date, subsection 122(f)(6) nonetheless requires
EPA to include a reopener provision, which is referred to in the statute as an

! Section 122(H(1)(B) to (D) sets forth other conditions that must also be met. See subsection ii below.
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“[a]dditional condition for future liability.”'”> Under Section 122, only in

“extraordinary circumstances,” may EPA determine not to include an “unknown
conditions” reopener on the basis that “other terms, conditions, or requirements of
the agreement containing the covenant not to sue are sufficient to provide all
reasonable assurances that public health and the environment will be protected
from any future releases at or from the facility.”'”* In making such determination,
EPA must consider factors such as those listed under subsection 122(f)(4) as well
as “volume, toxicity, mobility, strength of evidence, ability to pay, litigative (sic)
risks, public interest considerations, precedential value, and inequities and
aggravating factors.” The House Conference Report regarding this provision
reveals that a provision more hospitable to the absence of reopeners was replaced
by a tougher measure in the Conference:

The conference substitute deletes the House provision regarding a
potentially responsible party’s ability to obtain a covenant not to
sue without a “reopener” for unknown conditions if that
responsible party contributes to a “Groundwater and Surface Water
Protection Fund” for any future problems at the facility. Instead,
new section 122(f)(6)(B)... now states that settlements shall not be
granted without reopeners for unknown conditions, except in
extraordinary circumstances where all other terms and conditions
of the settlement agreement are sufficient to protect health and the
environment from any future releases....'”*

The Congressional mandate that limits of EPA’s settlement authority in this case is
clear. Although requiring a reopener provision may make CERCLA settlements
somewhat more difficult to achieve, such a trade-off must be accepted in return for
assurance that those responsible for endangering public health and the environment
are not to be allowed escape liability if the settlement proves inadequate to assure
protection of public health and the environment.

%2 See also subsection 122(f)(6)(C), authorizing EPA to include additional reopeners conditions where “necessary
and appropriate to assure protection of public health, welfare, and the environment.”

19 CERCLA Section 122(f)(6)(B).
1% H.R. Conf. Rep. No. 962, 99" Cong., 2d Sess. 255 (1986) (emphasis added).
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2 EPA Lacks the Authority to Enter into the Proposed Settlement
because its Covenant Not To Sue Would Take Effect Prior to
Completion of the Remedial Action and because the Settlement
Fails to Include a Reopener.

In this case, EPA lacks the authority to enter into the proposed settlement with
AVX because the statutory prerequisites authorizing EPA to grant unconditional
covenant not to sue have not been met. First, as explained more fully in Section
ITA. above, the public interest factors listed CERCLA Section 122(f)(4) strongly
militate against this settlement:

As to factor A, “the effectiveness and reliability of the remedy”, there are
substantial uncertainties whether EPA’s plan to use PCB cleanup
standards as lax as 50 ppm and to bury and cap contaminated sediments in
on-site cells will prove to be sufficient to restore the Harbor;'”

As to Factor B, “ the nature of the risks remaining” at the Site, EPA has
documented that contaminated sediments remain untouched and that
conditions at the Harbor continue to constitute a serious endangerment to
public health and the environment;'*®

As to factor D, “the extent to which the response action provides a complete
remedy”, the proposed remedial plan leaves most contaminated sediments
on-site and thus provides no assurance that it will permanently destroy,
eliminate, or immobilize the Harbor’s contamination;'”’

As to factor E, “the extent to which the technology used in the response
action is demonstrated to be effective”, use of on-site CAD cells is an
unproven technology for sediments with PCB concentrations as high as
those at this Site and a pilot project at the Site using this technology was
unsuccessful;'”®

As to Factor F, “whether the [Superfund Trust] Fund or other sources of
funding would be available for any additional remedial actions that might
eventually be necessary”, the record is clear that the Trust has insufficient

195 Qection I1.A.2 above at subsection C.
1% Section I1LA.2 above.
Y7 Section IL.A.2 above at subsection C.

198 Id
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funds to assure timely completion of the project and that AVX is the only
viable source of funding required for its completion;'*’

Furthermore, wholly apart from subsection 122(F)(1") requirements, subsection
122(f)(3) flatly prohibits EPA from providing a covenant not to sue which
becomes effective before the remedy is certified as complete. Nevertheless, the
covenant in this proposed settlement would become effective much sooner.””
Even if the absence of a reopener were appropriate in light of the public factors
listed above (which it is not in this case), any covenant not to sue is statutorily
required to include language delaying the effectiveness of the covenant until after
EPA (under delegated authority from the President) certifies that remedial action
has been completed in accordance with the requirements of CERCLA. Notably,
the 1992 Consent Decree with AVX contained such a provision, but it has been
deleted from the current proposed settlement.””’ Thus, the covenant not to sue, as
proposed, is unauthorized as a matter of law and, as such, is ultra vires.**

As discussed above, in 1989 the District Court rejected a natural resources
damages settlement with AVX because it contained no reopener. > The
principles set forth in that 1989 Decision apply with even more force in the
cleanup context because that was the context in which Congress enacted those
provisions and the context to which they specifically apply. Like the settlement at
issue in the 1989 Decision, here there are no “extraordinary circumstances,” as the
term is used in subsection 122(f)(6)(B), that place this case in that rare one percent
of cases that warrant the absence of a reopener. Much to the contrary, virtually all
of public interest factors strongly militate in favor of preventing AVX from
escaping future liability so as to ensure that the cleanup is timely completed.
Further, the other factors referenced in subsection 122(f)(6)(B), including but
limited to the relatively minimal “litigative risk™ the governments actually face

199 Section I1.A above.

0 paragraph 15-e of the Supplemental Consent Decree, supra, states that the covenant will become effective when
AVX’s payments are made. AVX’s final payment is due two years after the date of entry of the proposed decree.
Id. at 8.

2! 14, See also 1992 Consent Decree, supra, at 19.

92 Iy addition, the Coalition believes that EPA lacks authority to provide AVX a covenant not to sue because other
factors set forth in subsection 122(f)(1) have not been satisfied. For example, subsection(1)(B) requires that the
covenant not to sue “expedite” the response action at issue; but here the covenant could result in there being
insufficient funding to complete the remedy promptly. See Section ILLA. above at subsection 2. Likewise,
subsection (f)(1)(D) requires that the response action at issue “has been approved” by EPA; but here the EPA plans
to re-evaluate the Upper Harbor remedy and has not even issued a final feasibility study as to the Outer Harbor
remedy. /d. The Coalition reserves all rights regarding these issues.

0% See Section I above at subsection B.

42



here and AVX’s substantial ability to pay, likewise clearly demonstrate that the
extraordinary circumstances exemption does not apply.”**

In sum, the 1992 Consent Decree that EPA negotiated with AVX and that the
District Court approved contained the very same essential provisions that are
missing from this proposed settlement. Most importantly, that decree provided for
a reopener if remedial cost exceeded a specified amount. And of equal
significance, unlike the release from future liability in the proposed settlement, the
covenant not to sue in the 1992 Consent Decree became effective only after the
remedy was completed and EPA certified it as protective. Similarly, the UAO
issued by EPA to AVX in April 2012 expressly reserved all EPA’s rights regarding
AVX’s future liabilities. By contrast, under the settlement now proposed, AVX—
the primary polluter at this Site and the only entity with resources available to
finance the remedy’s completion—would be unconditionally released from all
future liability many years before the remedy’s completion and perhaps even
before EPA finally settles on the design of its remedial plan. In these
circumstances, CERLA simply bars EPA from settling this case on the basis it has

proposed.

. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, EPA should withdraw its proposed settlement
agreement and proceed to negotiate a revised agreement with AVX that is
consistent with these comments.

Respectfully submitted,

4

Korrin N. Petersen, Esq.

Senior Attorney

Buzzards Bay Coalition

114 Front Street

New Bedford, MA 02740
petersen@savebuzzardsbay.org

204 gection I1.B. above, and Section 1 at subsection B.
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The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, including the notes
thereto, appearing elsewhere herein. Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that reflect projections or expectations of future
financial or economic performance of AVX Corporation, and statements of the Company's plans and objectives for future operations,
including those contained in "Business”, “Risk Factors”, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations", and "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk", or relating to the Company's outlook for overall
volume and pricing trends, end market demands, cost reduction strategies and their anticipated results, and expectations for research,
development and capital expenditures, are "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Words such as "expects", "anticipates",
"approximates", "believes", "estimates”, "intends" and "hopes" and variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to
identify such forward-looking statements. No assurance can be given that actual results or events will not differ materially from
those projected, estimated, assumed or anticipated in any such forward-looking statements. Important factors that could result in
such differences, in addition to the other factors noted with such forward-looking statements and in “Risk Factors” in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, include: general economic conditions in the Company's market, including inflation, recession, interest rates
and other economic factors; casualty to or other disruption of the Company's facilities and equipment; potential environmental
liabilities; and other factors that generally affect the business of manufacturing and supplying electronic components and related
products. Forward looking statements are intended to speak only as of the date they are made and AVX Corporation does not
undertake to update or revise any forward-looking statement contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect new events or

circumstances unless and to the extent required by applicable law.

25
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Passive Component sales were $1,041.9 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 compared to $805.9 million during the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. The sales increase in Passive Components reflects the overall improvement in global markets in
all regions and virtually all markets and sales channels that began during the second half of fiscal 2010 and continued throughout
fiscal 2011. The increase in sales of Ceramic Components reflects an increase in the volume of unit sales and favorable pricing
environment resulting from increased demand due to the improved global economy and resulting increased demand for electronic
components. The increase in sales of Tantalum Components is the result of increased demand and a favorable pricing environment
for these components as customers increased purchases in response to the improved economic conditions. Increased revenues from
Advanced Components reflect the higher demand resulting from the improved global economy and resulting end user demand for
electronic component products and concurrent demand for increased functionality in electronic products such as smart phones, tablets

and automobiles.

KDP and KKC Resale sales were $440.1 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 compared to $338.7 million during the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. When compared to fiscal 2010, the increase during fiscal 2011 is primarily attributable to an
increase in KDP unit sales volume due to higher end user demand, particularly in the telecommunications market, resulting from the

improvement in global economic conditions.

Total Interconnect product sales, including AVX manufactured and KEC Resale Connectors, were $171.2 million in the fiscal
vear ended March 31, 2011 compared to $160.4 million during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. This increase was primarily
attributable to increases in the automotive and telecommunications based product sectors as a result of the improved global economy.

Our sales to independent electronic distributors represented 42% of total net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011,
compared to 39% for fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. Our sales to distributor customers involve specific ship and debit and stock
rotation programs for which sales allowances are recorded as reductions in sales. Such allowance charges were $32.8 million, or
4.5% of gross sales to distributor customers, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 and $29.5 million, or 5.5% of gross sales to
distributor customers, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. Applications under such programs for fiscal years ended March 31,
2011 and 2010 were approximately $32.8 million and § 29.7 million, respectively.

Geographically, compared to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 were 30.9% in
Europe, 28.0% in the Americas and 23.6% in Asia. The movement of the U.S. dollar against certain foreign currencies resulted in an
unfavorable impact on sales for the year ended March 31, 2011 of approximately $18.1 million when compared to the prior year.

Gross profit in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 increased to 27.7% of sales or $457.4 million compared to a gross profit
margin of 21.3% of sales or $278.2 million in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. This increase is primarily a result of the
increased demand for higher margin value added products, particularly for Tantalum Components, due to end user demand for
increased functionality and electronic content increases in end user products such as automobiles, smart phones, tablets, hybrid and
electric cars and renewable energy products and concerns about component availability. This increased demand for higher margin
value added products in conjunction with improved operating efficiencies and disciplined cost management resulted in higher
margins throughout fiscal 2011. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, benefits from higher production volumes and lower
operating costs were partially offset by higher raw materials and energy cost. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 we
incurred restructuring charges of $4.4 million related to headcount reductions and other charges including those related to facility
closures as we realigned production capabilities and reduced operating costs. There were no restructuring charges for the year ended
March 31, 2011. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, we also recorded a $5.0 million reduction in cost of sales related to a
vendor settlement. In addition, during fiscal 2011 when compared to the prior year, there was a favorable impact on costs of
approximately $22.3 million due to currency movement of the U.S. dollar against certain foreign currencies.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 were $123.9 million, or 7.5% of net sales,
compared to $108.5 million, or 8.3% of net sales, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. The increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses was primarily due to higher selling expenses resulting from higher sales. During the fiscal year ended March
31, 2010, we recorded $2.5 million of restructuring charges primarily related to headcount reductions to reduce ongoing selling,

general and administrative expenses,

Research, development and engineering expenditures, which encompass the personnel and related expenses devoted to
developing new products and maintaining existing products, processes and technical innovations, were approximately $23.7 million
and $24.7 million in fiscal 2011 and 2010, respectively. Research and development costs included therein increased in fiscal 2011 to
$7.4 million compared to $6.8 million in fiscal 2010. Engineering expenses decreased $1.5 million to $16.3 million in fiscal 2011

compared to $17.8 million in fiscal 2010,

Profit from operations for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 increased $154.2 million to $324.9 million compared to $170.7
million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. In addition to the factors discussed above, during the fiscal yvear ended March 31,
2011 we recognized $8.6 million for environmental and related legal charges related to the implementation of certain environmental
remediation actions in the U.S. Gains of $3.5 million resuiting from the sale of excess corporate assets are included in other operating

income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010,
25

httn://www sec oov/Archives/edoar/data/R591A3/0N0NR591A31200007 4 /aveform 10kfv1? 12/14/20172



avxform10kfy12. htm Page 32 of 81

Other income increased $3.6 million to $9.3 million in fiscal 2011 compared to $5.7 million in fiscal 2010. This increase is
attributable to net foreign currency gains of approximately $1.7 million in fiscal 2011 compared 1o net foreign currency losses of $1.6
million in fiscal 2010, partially offset by a decrease in interest income of approximately $0.6 million resulting from lower return rates
on investment balances when compared to the prior fiscal year. Included in other income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 are
impairment charges related to the decline in market value of certain available-for-sale securities of $0.4 million.

The effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 was 27.0% compared to an effective tax rate of 19.0% for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. This higher effective tax rate is primarily due to the decrease in the amount of deferred tax
liabilities associated with certain of our foreign branch losses taken as deductions in prior years’ U.S. tax returns no longer subject to
U.S. income tax recapture regulations. In March 2007, the Internal Revenue Service enacted a change in tax regulations that reduced
the U.S. income tax recapture period for such foreign branch losses from 15 to 5 years. As a result, $3.6 million of recapture expired
in the current fiscal year compared to $16.6 million during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. In addition, the effective tax rate
increased due to the increase in pre-tax income in higher tax rate jurisdictions when compared to the same period last year, partially
offset by a one-time tax benefit of $2.2 million attributable to an increase in available U.S. foreign tax credits relating to one of our
European operations. We estimate a further reduction in deferred tax liabilities of $3.2 million during the fiscal year ending March
31, 2012 as the recapture period related to foreign branch losses deducted in certain prior years expire.

As a result of the factors discussed above, net income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 was $244.0 million compared to
$142.9 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010,

Financial Condition

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity needs arise primarily from working capital requirements, dividends, capital expenditures and
acquisitions. Historically, the Company has satisfied its liquidity requirements through funds from operations and investment income
from cash and investments in securities. As of March 31, 2012, we had a current ratio of 5.8 to 1, $1,051.5 million of cash, cash
equivalents and investments in securities, $2,120.8 million of stockholders' equity and no debt.

As of March 31, 2012, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments in securities of $1,051.5 million,
of which $469.6 million was held outside the U.S. Liquidity is subject to many factors, such as normal business operations as well as
general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, and regulatory factors that are beyond our control. Cash balances generated and
held in foreign locations are used for on-going working capital, capital expenditure needs and to support acquisitions. These balances
are currently expected to be permanently reinvested outside the U.S. If these funds were needed for general corporate purposes in the
U.S., we would incur significant income taxes to repatriate to the U.S. cash held in foreign locations. In addition, local government
regulations may restrict our ability to move funds among various locations under certain circumstances. Management does not

believe such restrictions would limit our ability to pursue the Company’s intended business strategy.

Net cash from operating activities was $148.4 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, compared to $152.1 million for
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 and $200.5 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010.

Purchases of property and equipment were $49.2 million in fiscal 2012, $27.5 million in fiscal 2011 and $28.9 million in fiscal
2010. Expenditures primarily related to expanding the production capabilities of the passive component and connector product lines,
expanding production capacity in lower cost regions, as well as the implementation of improved manufacturing processes. We
continue to make strategic capital investments in our advanced and specialty passive component and interconnect products and
expect to incur capital expenditures of approximately $50 million in fiscal 2013. The actual amount of capital expenditures will

depend upon the outlook for end market demand.

Our funding is internally generated through operations and investment income from cash and investments in securities. We have
assessed the condition of the current global credit market on our current business and believe that based on the financial condition of
the Company as of March 31, 2012, that cash on hand and cash expected to be generated from operating activities and investment
income from cash and investments in securities will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated financing needs for working capital,
capital expenditures, environmental clean-up costs, pension plan funding, research, development and engineering expenses and any
dividend payments or stock repurchases to be made during the upcoming year. While changes in customer demand have an impact on
our future cash requirements, changes in those requirements are mitigated by our ability to adjust manufacturing capabilities to meet
increases or decreases in customer demand. Additionally, we do not anticipate any significant changes in our ability to generate or

meet our liquidity needs in the long-term.

In fiscal 2010, 2011 and 2012, dividends of $27.2 million, $32.3 million and $44.2 million, respectively, were paid to
stockholders.

-26-

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/859163/000085916312000024/avxform10kfy12.... 12/14/2012



avxform10kfy12.htm Page 33 of 81

On October 19, 2005, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of 5,000,000 shares of our common
stock. On October 17, 2007, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of an additional 5,000,000 shares of
our common stock. As of March 31, 2012, there were 6,492,063 shares that may yet be repurchased under this program.

We purchased 321,969 shares at a cost of $3.7 million during fiscal 2010, 445,528 shares at a cost of $6.2 million during fiscal
2011 and 625,068 shares at a cost of $8.4 million during fiscal 2012. The repurchased shares are held as treasury stock and are

available for general corporate purposes.

At March 31, 2012, we had contractual obligations for the acquisition or construction of plant and equipment aggregating
approximately $1.4 million.

We make contributions to our U.S. and international defined benefit plans as required under various pension funding
regulations. We made contributions of $8.2 million to our international defined benefit plans during the year ended March 31, 2012
and estimate that we will make contributions of approximately $7.7 million during the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013. We have
unfunded actuarially computed pension liabilities of approximately $22.9 million related to these defined benefit pension plans as of

March 31, 2012.

We are a lessee under long-term operating leases primarily for office space, plant and equipment. Future minimum lease
commitments under non-cancelable operating leases as of March 31, 2012, were approximately $25.7 million.

From time to time we enter into delivery contracts with selected suppliers for certain metals used in our production
processes. The delivery contracts represent routine purchase orders for delivery within three months and payment is due upon

receipt.

We are involved in disputes, warranty and legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business. While we cannot predict
the outcome of these proceedings, we believe, based upon our review with legal counsel, that none of these proceedings will have a
material impact on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. However, we cannot be certain if the eventual outcome
and any adverse result in these or other matters that may arise from time to time may harm our financial position, results of

operations, or cash flows.

On June 2, 2006, we received a “Confirmation of Potential Liability; Demand and Notice of Decision Not to Use Special Notice
Procedures” dated May 31, 2006 from the EPA with regard to $1.6 million (subsequently reduced to $0.9 million) of past costs, as
well as future costs for environmental remediation, related to the purported release of hazardous substances at an abandoned facility
referred to as the “Aerovox Facility” (the “Facility™), located at 740 Belleville Avenue, New Bedford, Massachusetts. Aerovox
Corporation, a predecessor of AVX, sold this Facility to an unrelated third party in 1973. A subsequent unrelated owner, Aerovox
Inc., the last manufacturer to own and operate in the Facility, filed for bankruptcy in 2001 and abandoned the Facility. AVX has
substantially completed its obligations under agreements between the EPA, the City of New Bedford and AVX. Work pursuant to an
agreement with the state regulatory authorities is expected to begin shortly, and is likely to include soil and groundwater
remediation. Based on our own estimate of remediation costs, we have accrued an estimate of the potential liability related to
performance of such environmental remediation actions at the Facility; however, until remediation is complete, we cannot be certain

there will be no additional costs.

In 1991, in connection with a consent decree, we paid $66 million, plus interest, toward the environmental conditions at, and
remediation of, New Bedford Harbor in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (“the harbor™) in settlement with the United States and
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, subject to reopener provisions, including a reopener if certain remediation costs for the site
exceed $130.5 million. In 2007, we received notification from the EPA and the Department of Justice indicating that the United
States was preparing to exercise the cost reopener. In March 2011, the EPA issued the Fourth Explanation of Significant Differences
(“ESD #4”) that explains the planned changes to the existing remedial action plan for the harbor to include the use of a confined
aquatic disposal (“CAD”) cell, along with interim off-site transportation and disposal of certain contaminated dredge spoils, and the
continued use of long-term on-site storage for other contaminated dredge spoils. ESD #4 provides future cost estimates under the
new remedial action plan (in addition to costs incurred to date) ranging from $362 million to $401 million, net present value, based
on certain criteria included in the ESD #4. The EPA has indicated that remediation costs through December 31, 2011 were
approximately $456 million, not all of which are subject to the reopener provisions.

On April 18, 2012, the EPA issued to the Company a Unilateral Administrative Order (“UAO”) directing the Company to
perform the Remedial Design, the Remedial Action and Operation and Maintenance for the harbor cleanup. The effective date set
forth in the UAO is June 18, 2012, pursuant to which the Company has until June 25, 2012 to inform the EPA if it intends to comply

with the UAO.

We have not received complete documentation of past response costs from the EPA and therefore have not yet completed an
investigation of the monies spent or available defenses in light of these notifications and indications. We have also not yet determined
whether the Company can avoid responsibility for all, or some portion, of these past or future costs because the remediation method
has changed over time and costs can be appropriately apportioned o parties other than the Company. We anticipate further
discussions with the U.S. Deparlment of Justice, the EPA, and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in the first half of our fiscal year
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We are continuing to assess the UAO as well as potential defenses and other actions with respect to the site. However, in light of
the foregoing, we consider it to be probable and reasonably estimable that we will incur cost within a range of approximately $100
million to $730 million, with no amount within that range representing a more likely outcome until such time as we complete our
investigation with regard to monies spent, available defenses and other matters. We recognize liabilities for environmental exposures
when analysis indicates that is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably
estimated. When a range of loss can be estimated, we accrue the most likely amount. In the event that no amount in the range of
probable loss is considered most likely, the minimum loss in the range is accrued. Accordingly, we have recorded a charge for the
fourth quarter and year ended March 31, 2012 of $100 million with respect to this matter.

We have been named as a potentially responsible party in state and federal administrative proceedings seeking contribution for
costs associated with the correction and remediation of environmental conditions at various waste disposal and operating sites. In
addition, we operate on sites that may have potential future environmental issues as a result of activities at sites during AVX's long
history of manufacturing operations or prior to the start of operations by AVX. Even though we may have rights of indemnity for
such environmental matters at certain sites, regulatory agencies in those jurisdictions may require us to address such issues. Once it
becomes probable that we will incur costs in connection with remediation of a site and such costs can be reasonably estimated, we
establish reserves or adjust our reserves for our projected share of these costs. A separate account receivable is recorded for any
indemnified costs. Our environmental reserves are not discounted and do reflect any possible future insurance recoveries, which are
not expected to be significant, but do reflect a reasonable estimate of cost sharing at multiple party sites or indemnification of our

liability by a third party.

We currently have environmental reserves for current and estimated future remediation and compliance costs of approximately
$115.9 million at March 31, 2012. The amount recorded for identified contingent liabilities is based on estimates. Amounts recorded
are reviewed periodically and adjusted to reflect additional legal and technical information that becomes available. The uncertainties

about the status of laws, regulations, regulatory actions, technology and information related to individual sites make it difficult to
develop an estimate of the reasonably possible aggregate environmental remediation exposure; therefore these costs could differ from

our current estimates.

Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The Company has the following contractual obligations and commitments as of March 31, 2012 as noted below.

FY 2014 - FY 2016 -
Contractual Obligations (in thousands) Total FY 2013 FY 2015 FY 2017 Thereafter
Operating Leases $ 25728 $  6.041 § 9236 § 7,969 $ 2482
Plant and Equipment § 1384 $§ 1,384 $ - $ . $ -

As discussed in Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements elsewhere herein, the amount of unrecognized tax benefits
recorded in the Company’s balance sheet at March 31, 2012 was $12.0 million. The Company is unable to reasonably estimate in
which future periods these amounts will be ultimately settled.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we made contributions of $4.5 million to Company sponsored retirement savings
plans. Our contributions are partially based on employee contributions as a percentage of their salaries. Certain contributions by the
Company are discretionary and are determined by the Board of Directors each year. We expect that our contributions for the year
ending March 31, 2013 will be approximately the same as in fiscal 2012.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we made no contributions to our U.S. defined benefit plans, due to their fully
funded status at the end of the prior year and $8.2 million to our international defined benefit plans. These contributions are based on
a percentage of pensionable wages or to satisfy funding requirements. We expect that our contributions for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2013 will be none for our U.S. defined benefit plans and approximately $7.7 million for our international defined benefit

plans.

We have an employment agreement with our Chief Executive Officer which provides for salary continuance equivalent to his
most recent base salary as a full-time employee during a two-year advisory period upon retirement from the Company.

From time to time we enter into delivery contracts with selected suppliers for certain metals used in our production
processes. The delivery contracts represent routine purchase orders for delivery within three months and payment is due upon
receipt. As of March 31, 2012, we had no material outstanding purchase commitments.

w28~
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" is based upon our consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereto, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. On an ongoing basis,
management evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, warranties, inventories, pensions,
income taxes and contingencies, Management bases its estimates, judgments and assutnptions on historical experience and on
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. While our estimates and
assumptions are based on our knowledge of current events and actions we may undertake in the future, there can be no assurance that
actual results will not differ from these estimates and assumptions. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our accounting policies and
disclosure practices. In management's opinion, the critical accounting policies and estimates, as defined below, are more complex in
nature and require a higher degree of judgment than the remainder of our accounting policies described in Note 1 to our consolidated

financial statements elsewhere herein.

Revenue Recognition

All of our preducts are built to specification and tested by us for adherence to such specification before shipment to
customers. We ship products to customers based upon firm orders. Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales. We
recognize revenue when the sales process is complete. This occurs when products are shipped 1o the customer in accordance with the
terms of an agreement of sale, there is a fixed or determinable selling price, title and risk of loss have been transferred and
collectability is reasonably assured. Estimates used in determining sales allowance programs described below are subject to the
volatilities of the market place. This includes, but is not limited to, changes in economic conditions, pricing changes, product
demand, inventory levels in the supply chain, the effects of technological change, and other variables that might result in changes to
our estimates. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates.

Returns

Sales revenue and cost of sales reported in the income statement are reduced to reflect estimated returns. We record an estimated
sales allowance for retumns at the time of sale based on using historical trends, current pricing and volume information, other market
specific information and input from sales, marketing and other key management., The amount accrued reflects the return of value of
the customer’s inventory. These procedures require the exercise of significant judgments. We believe that these procedures enable
us to make reliable estimates of future returns. Our actual results approximate our estimates. When the product is returned and
verified, the customer is given credit against their accounts receivable.

Distribution Programs

A portion of our sales are to independent electronic component distributors which are subject to various distributor sales
programs, We report provisions for distributor allowances in connection with such sales programs as a reduction in revenue and
report distributor allowances in the balance sheet as a reduction in accounts receivable. For the distribution programs described
below, we do not track the individual units that we record against specific products sold from distributor inventories, which would
allow us to directly compare revenue reduction for credits recorded during any period with credits ultimately awarded in respect of
products sold during that period. Nevertheless, we believe that we have an adequate basis to assess the reasonableness and reliability

of our estimates for each program.

Distributor Stock Rotation Program

Stock rotation is a program whereby distributors are allowed to return for credit qualified inventory, semi-annually, equal to a
certain percentage, primarily limited to 5% of the previous six months net sales. We record an estimated sales allowance for stock
rotation at the time of sale based on a percentage of distributor sales using historical trends, current pricing and volume information,
other market specific information and input from sales, marketing and other key management. These procedures require the exercise
of significant judgment. We believe that these procedures enable us to make reliable estimates of future returns under the stock
rotation program. Our actual results approximate our estimates. When the product is returned and verified, the distributor is given

credit against their accounts receivable.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/859163/000085916312000024/avxform 10kfy12.... 12/14/2012



avxform10kfy12.htm Page 47 of 81

*10.2 Amended Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan as amended through February 4, 2003 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended December 31, 2002).

10.3 Products Supply and Distribution Agreement by and between Kyocera Corporation and AVX Corporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2000).

W

*10.4 AVX Nonqualified Supplemental Retirement Plan Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2008 (the AVX Corporation
SERP was merged into this plan effective January 1, 2005) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Annual Report
on Form10-K of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2009).

*10.5 Employment Agreement between AVX Corporation and John S. Gilbertson dated December 19, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10,10 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended December 31, 2008).

*10.6 AVX Corporation 2004 Stock Option Plan as amended through July 23, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2004).

*10.7 AVX Corporation 2004 Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan as amended through July 28, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2004).

*10.8 Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option Agreement for awards pursuant to AVX Corporation 2004 Stock
Option Plan and AVX Corporation 2004 Non-Employee Directors” Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2005).

*10.9 AVX Corporation Management Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended June 30, 2009).

10.10 Machinery and Equipment Purchase Agreement by and between Kyocera Corporation and AVX Corporation (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10,14 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2005).

10.11 Materials Supply Agreement by and between Kyocera Corporation and AVX Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2005).

10.12 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 15, 2007, by and among AVX Corporation, Admiral Byrd Acquisition Sub,
Inc. and American Technical Ceramies Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 to the Schedule 13D filed by the

Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 25, 2007).

10.13 Disclosure and Option to License Agreement effective as of April 1, 2008 by and between Kyocera Corporation and AVX
Corporation. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of the Company filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission on March 25, 2008).

10.14 Form of Relocation Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the
Company for the year ended March 31, 2010),

10.15 Form of Director and Officer Indemnification (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Annual Report on Form 10-
K of the Company for year ended March 31, 2010).

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

24.1 Power of Attorney.
31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer — John S. Gilbertson

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/154-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer — Kurt P. Cummings

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 0of 2002 -
John §. Gilbertson and Kurt P. Cummings

* Agreement relates to executive compensation.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AVX Corporation

by: /s/ Kurt P, Cummings

KURT P. CUMMINGS

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
Dated: May 25, 2012

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature i Title Date
*

Kazuo Inamori Chairman Emeritus of the Board May 25, 2012
*

John S. Gilbertson Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President May 25, 2012
*

Donald B. Christiansen Director May 25, 2012
*

Kensuke Itoh Director May 25, 2012
*

Makoto Kawamura Director May 25, 2012
*

Rodney N. Lanthorne Director May 25,2012
s

Joseph Stach Director May 25,2012
*

David DeCenzo Director May 25, 2012

*

Tetsuo Kuba Director

May 25,2012

*

Tatsumi Maeda Director May 25, 2012

* by: /s/ Kurt P, Cummings
KURT P. CUMMINGS, Attorney-in-Fact for each of the persons indicated
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AVX Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share data)
March 31,

Assets 2011 2012

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$ 379,350 § 395284

Short-term investments in securities 398,914 418,133
Available-for-sale securities 2,747 -
Accounts receivable - trade, net 227,642 206,170
Accounts receivable - affiliates 6,141 1.883
Inventories 496,495 566,117
Income taxes receivable - 14,988
Deferred income taxes 39,355 85,787
Prepaid and other 51,471 38,783
Total current assets 1,602,115 1,727,145
Long-term investments in securities 220,835 238,112
Long-term available-for-sale securities 4,490 -
Property and equipment:
Land 29.241 34,290
Buildings and improvements 313,581 311,038
Machinery and equipment 1,105,983 1,081,098
Construction in progress 13,897 23,555
1,462,702 1,449,981
Accumulated depreciation (1,227,043) (1,213,493)
235,659 236,488
Goodwill 162,532 162,707
Intangible assets, net 82,612 78,221
Deferred income taxes - non-current 1,651 14,493
Other assets 9 588 10,846

Total Assets $ 2,319,482 $ 2,468,012

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable - trade § 46,255 § 43,719

Accounts payable - affiliates 86,378 60,078
Income taxes payable 10,452 13,815
Deferred income taxes - 547
Accrued payroll and benefits 43,221 38,333
Accrued expenses 49,359 140,581
Total current liabilities 235,665 297.073
Pensions 18,028 22,337
Deferred income taxes - non-current - 2.270
Other liabilities 26.372 25,579
Total non-current liabilities 44,400 50,186
Total Liabilities 280,065 347,259

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share:

Authorized, 20,000 shares; None issued and outstanding

Common stock, par value $.01 per share:
Authorized, 300,000 shares; issued, 176,368 shares; outstanding, 170,142 1,764 1,764
and 169,601 shares for 2011 and 2012, respectively

Additional paid-in capital 347,664 349.474
Retained earnings 1,729,507 1,838,140
Accumulated other comprehensive income 41,174 19,363
Treasury stock, at cost, (80,692) (87.988)
6,227 and 6,768 shares for 2011 and 2012, respectively
Total Stockholders' Equity 2,039,417 2.120,753
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 2,319,482 $ 2,468,012

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AVX Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended March 31, 2010 2011 2012
Net sales $1,304,966 $1,653,176 $1,545,254
Cost of sales 1,027,368 1,195,790 1,153,295
Vendor settlement (5,000) - -
Restructuring charges 4,397 - -
Gross profit 278,201 457,386 391,959
Selling, general and administrative expenses 108,527 123,887 116,408
Environmental charges - 8.575 100,000
Restructuring charges 2,509 - -
Other operating income (3.519) - -
Profit from operations T 170,684 324,924 175,551
Other income (expense):
Interest income 7,120 6,569 6,798
Interest expense (111) - (707)
Other, net (1,336) 2,766 (1,737)
Income before income taxes 176,357 334,259 179,905
Provision for income taxes 33,499 90,256 27,100
Net income § 142,858 $ 244,003 $ 152,805
Income per share:
Basic $ 0.84 $ 1,44 $ 0.90
Diluted h 0.84 $ 1.43 b 0.90
Dividends declared § 0.165 £ 019 $ 0280
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 170,247 170,025 169,886
Diluted 170,274 170,390 170,134

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements,
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AVX Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(in thousands, except per share data)

Commeon Stock

Additional

Page 51 of 81

Accumulated

Other

Number Treasury Paid-In  Retained Comprehensive Comprehensive
Of Shares Amount  Stock Capital _Earnings Income Total Income

Balance, March 31, 2009 170,384 $1,764 $(77,552) $343,275 $1,402,202 h 64 $1,669,753 $ (126,440)
Net income - - - - 142,858 - 142,858 142,858
Other comprehensive

income, net of income taxes - - - - - 17,193 17,193 17,193
Dividends of $0.16

per share - - - - (27,242) - (27,242)
Stock-based

compensation expense - - - 2,040 - - 2,040
Stock option activity 12 - 151 (18) - - 133
Tax benefit of stock

option exercises - - - 8 - - 8
Treasury stock purchased (322) - (3,736) - - - (3,736)
Balance, March 31, 2010 170,074 §1,764 §(81,137) $345,305 §1.517,818 $ 17,257 $1,801,007 $§ 160,051
Net income - - - - 244,003 - 244,003 244,003
Other comprehensive

loss, net of income taxes - - - - - 23,917 23,917 23,917
Dividends of $0.19

per share - - - - (32314 - (32,314)
Stock-based

compensation expense - - - 2,475 - - 2.475
Stock option activity 513 - 6,638 (632) - . 6,006
Tax benefit of stock

option exercises - - - 516 - - 516
Treasury stock purchased (445) - (6,193) - - - (6,193)
Balance, March 31, 2011 170,142 $1,764 $(80,692) $347,664 $1,729,507 $ 41,174 $2,039.417 $ 267,920
Net income - - - - 152,805 - 152,805 152,805
Other comprehensive

income, net of income taxes - - - - - (21,811) (21,811) (21,811)
Dividends of $0.28

per share - - - - (44.172) - (44,172)
Stock-based

compensation expense - - - 1,816 - - 1,816
Stock option activity 84 - 1,008 (101) = : 997
Tax benefit of stock

option exercises - - - 95 - - 95
Treasury stock purchased (625) - (8,394) - - - (8,394)
Balance, March 31,2012 169.601 $1,764 $(87.988) $349,474 $1,838,140 $ 19363 $2.120,753 $ 130,994

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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AVX Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2010 2011 2012
Operating Activities:
Net income $ 142,858 $ 244,003 § 152,805
Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 58,173 47,619 46,890
Stock-based compensation expense 2,040 2,475 1,816
Deferred income taxes (8,419) 8,492 (56,456)
(Gain) Loss on available-for-sale securities 362 55 572
(Gain) Loss on sale of property, plant & equipment, net of retirements (2,546) 594 648
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (47,462) (37,792) 25,730
Inventories 14,788 (135,223) (74,007)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 25,868 41,640 55,232
Income taxes 16,390 3,220 2,759
Other assets (10,156) (10,108) (7,757)
Other liabilities 8,558 (12,880) 190
Net cash provided by operating activities 200,454 152,095 148,422
Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (28,888) (27,470) (49,201)
Sales of available-for-sale securities 29,006 8,374 5.686
Purchases of investment securities (943,231) (923,482) (1,162,317)
Redemptions of investment securities 659,523 785.337 1,125,616
Proceeds from property, plant & equipment dispositions 6,050 7 -
Contingent consideration for a prior acquisition (63) - -
Other investing activities (870) (120) (127)
Net cash (used in) investing activities (278,473) (157,354) (80,343)
Financing Activities:
Dividends paid (27,242) (32,314) (44,172)
Purchase of treasury stock (3,736) (6,193) (8,394)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 133 6,006 997
Excess tax benefit from stock-based payment arrangements 8 516 95
Other financing activities 1,732 - =
Net cash (used in) financing activities (29,105) (31,985) (51,474)
Effect of exchange rate on cash 389 620 (671)
Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (106,735) (36,624) 15,934
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 522,709 415,974 379,350

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period § 415,974 $ 379,350 $ 395,284

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 20-F

O REGISTRATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OR (g) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
OR
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the transition period from to
OR
0 SHELL COMPANY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

Date of event requiring this shell company report
Commission file number: 1-7952

Kyocera Kabushiki Kaisha

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Kyocera Corporation

(Translation of Registrant’s name into English)

6, Takeda Tobadono-cho, Fushimi-ku,
Japan Kyoto 612-8501, Japan
(Jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (Address of principal executive offices)
Shoichi Aoki, +81-75-604-3556, kyocera-ir@kyocera.jp, +81-75-604-3557,
6, Takeda Tobadono-cho, Fushimi-ku, Kyoto 612-8501, Japan

(Name, Telephone, E-mail and/or Facsimile number and Address of Company Contact Person)

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act.

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange On Which Registered
Common Stock (Shares)* New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act.

None

(Title of Class)

Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act.

None

(Title of Class)

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of each of the issuer’s classes of capital or common stock as of the close of the period covered by the annual

report.
As of March 31, 2012, 183,443,920 shares of common stock were outstanding, comprised of 180,561,415 Shares and 2,882,505 American Depositary Shares

(equivalent to 2,882,505 Shares).
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Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes B No O

If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Actof 1934, Yes O No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes  No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 menths (or for such shorter period that the registrant

was required to submit and post such files).  Yes No O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of “accelerated filer and

large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check One):
Large accelerated filer X Accelerated filer [ Non-accelerated filer O

Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statements included in this filing:
U.S. GAAP X International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board [0 Other O

If “Other” has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statément item the registrant has elected to follow.
Item 17 O Item 18 O
If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 00 No X

* Not for trading, but only in connection with the registration of the American Depositary Shares, each representing one share of Common Stock.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report on Form 20-F contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 21E of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. To the extent that statements in this annual report on Form 20-F do not relate strictly to
historical or current facts, they may constitute forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based upon
our current assumptions and beliefs in the light of the information currently available to us, but involve known and unknown
risks, uncertainties and other factors. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors may cause our actual actions or results to differ
materially from those discussed in or implied by the forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly
update any forward-looking statements after the date of this annual report on Form 20-F, but investors are advised to consult
any further disclosures by us in our subsequent filings pursuant to the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

Important risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from our expectations are
generally set forth in Item 3.D. “Risk Factors™ of this annual report on Form 20-F and include, without limitation:

(1) general conditions in the Japanese or global economy;

(2) unexpected changes in economic, political and legal conditions in countries where we operate;

(3) various export risks which may affect the significant percentage of our revenues derived from overseas sales;

(4) the effect of foreign exchange fluctuations on our results of operations;

(5) intense competitive pressures to which our products are subject;

(6) manufacturing delays or defects resulting from outsourcing or internal manufacturing processes;

(7) shortages and rising costs of electricity affecting our production and sales activities;

(8) the possibility that future initiatives and in-process research and development may not produce the desired results;

(9) companies or assets acquired by us not produce the returns or benefits, or bring in business opportunities;

(10) inability to secure skilled employees, particularly engineering and technical personnel;

(11) insufficient protection of our trade secrets and intellectual property rights including patents;

(12) expenses associated with licenses we require to continue to manufacture and sell products;

(13) environmental liability and compliance obligations by tightening of environmental laws and regulations;

(14) unintentional conflict with laws and regulations or newly enacted laws and regulations;

(15) our market or supply chains being affected by terrorism, plague, wars or similar events;

(16) earthquakes and other natural disasters affecting our headquarters and major facilities as well as our suppliers and
customers;

(17) credit risk on trade receivables;

(18) fluctuations in the value of, and impairment losses on, securities and other assets held by us;

(19) impairment losses on long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets;

(20) unrealized deferred tax assets and additional liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits;

(21) changes in accounting principles;

and other risks discussed under Item 3.D. “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annual report on Form 20-F.

4
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Presentation of Certain Information

As used in this annual report on Form 20-F, references to “Kyocera,” “we,”“our” and "us” are to Kyocera Corporation and,
except as the context otherwise requires, its consolidated subsidiaries.

Also, as used in this annual report on Form 20-F:

«  “11.S. dollar” or “$” means the lawful currency of the United States of America, “yen” or “¥” means the lawful
currency of Japan and “Euro” means the lawful currency of the European Union.

e “1].8. GAAP” means accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and “Japanese
GAAP” means accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

*  “ADS” means an America Depositary Share, each representing one share of Kyocera’s common stock, and “ADR”
means an American Depositary Receipt evidencing ADSs.

= “fiscal 2012” refers to Kyocera’s fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, and other fiscal years are referred to in a
corresponding manner.
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PART I

Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers

Not applicable.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.

Item 3. Key Information

A. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below for each of the five fiscal years ended March 31 have been derived
from Kyocera’s consolidated financial statements that are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America.

You should read the U.S. GAAP selected consolidated financial data set forth below together with Item 5. “Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects” and Kyocera’s consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 20-F.

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(Yen in millions and shares in thousands, except per share amounts)
For the years ended March 31:
Net sales ¥1,290,436 ¥1,128,586 ¥1,073,805 ¥1,266,924 ¥1,190,870
Profit from operations 152,420 43,419 63,860 155,924 97,675
Net income attributable to shareholders
of Kyocera Corporation - 107,244 29.506 40,095 122,448 79,357

Earnings per share:
Net income atiributable to shareholders

of Kyocera Corporation:
' ¥ 56658 ¥ 15727 ¥ 21847 ¥ 66723 ¥ 43258

Basic
Diluted 565.80 157.23 218.47 667.23 432.58
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding: i
Basic 189,283 187,618 183,525 183,517 183,451
Diluted 189,544 187,661 183,525 183,517 183,451
Cash dividends declared per share:
Per share of common stock ¥ 120 ¥ 120 ¥ 120 ¥ 130 ¥ 120
Per share of common stock* $ 110§ 1.26 8§ 132§ 158 § 1.51
At March 31:
Total assets ¥1,976,746  ¥1,773,802  ¥1,848,717  ¥1,946,566  ¥1,994,103
Long-term debt 8,298 28,538 29,067 24,538 21,197
Common stock 115,703 115,703 115,703 115,703 115,703
Kyocera Corporation shareholders’
equity 1,451,165 1,323,663 1,345,235 1,420,263 1,469,505
Total equity 1,516,167 1,383,088 1,407,262 1,483,359 1,534,241
Depreciation ¥ 75,630 ¥ 83,753 ¥ 60,602 ¥ 59,794 ¥ 62374
Capital expenditures ¥ 85,101 ¥ 63,055 ¥ 3789 ¥ 70,680 ¥ 066408

* Translated into the U.S. dollars based on the exchange rates at each payment date in Japan.

6
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The following table shows the exchange rates for Japanese yen per $1.00 based upon the noon buying rate in New York City
for cash transfers in foreign currencies as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York:

For the years ended March 31, High Low Average Period-end
2008 124.09 96.88 114.31 99.85
2009 110.48 87.80 100.62 99.15
2010 100.71 86.12 92.93 93.40
2011 94.68 78.74 85.71 82.76
2012 85.26 75.72 79.00 82.41
For most recent six months

December 2011 78.13 76.98 77.80 76.98
January 2012 78.13 76.28 76.96 76.34
February 2012 81.10 - 76.11 ’ 78.47 81.10
March 2012 83.78 80.86 82.47 82.41
April 2012 82.62 79.81 81.25 79.81
May 2012 ‘ 80.36 78.29 79.67 78.29

The noon buying rate for Japanese yen on June 22, 2012 was $1.00 = 80.52

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not applicable.

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

D. Risk Factors
You should carefully read the risks described below before making an investment decision.

Risk Related to Kvocera’s Business

(1) The continuing economic slowdown in the Japanese and global economy may significantly reduce demand for
Kyocera’s producits

The outlook for the global economy remains uncertain, and there is concern that the financial problems facing European
nations will continue to cause such uncertainty or trigger another downturn in the global economy. With respect to the Asian
economy, although a fundamental trend toward Chinese-led expansion is expected, there are signs that growth rates may be
slowing. In addition, the growth of the Japanese economy may be affected by an economic slowdown in Europe, the United
States or Asia. In the event that stagnation in the Japanese and global economies has an adverse effect on capital investment in
and consumption of digital consumer equipment and industrial machinery, which are the principal markets for Kyocera,
demand for Kyocera products may fall significantly, the business environment facing Kyocera may worsen, and the
performance and financial condition of Kyocera may be adversely affected.

(2) A substantial portion of Kyocera’s business activity is conducted ouiside Japan, exposing Kyocera to the risks of
international operations '

A substantial amount of Kyocera’s investment has been targeted towards expanding manufacturing and sales channels located
outside Japan, such as in the United States, Furope and Asia, which includes the developing and

7
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Attachment 6

RTTEH STATES OISTRICT CEURT . s
DISTRICT CF MASSACHUSETTS .

SHITED STATES OF AMERICA,
rlaintiff,

CIVIL ACTION NO.
B83-38B2-¥

AVY¥ CORPORATION, et al.,
Defendants.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS,
Plaintiff,

V.

A\VX CORPCRATION, et al.,
Defendants.

T T S S N e T G e S S S e

CONSENT DECREE WITH DEFENDANTS AEROVOX
INCORPORATED AND BELLEVILLE INDUSTRIES, INC.

This Consent Decree (”Decree”) 1s made and entered into
by the United States of America (“United States”) and the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts (“Commonwealth”) (collectively
referred to as “Plaintiffs”), aerovox Incorporated (“Aercvox”),
and Eelisville Industries, Inc. ("Belleville”). Aerovox and

Zelleville are referred to collectively herein as the “Settling

Defencants”.

Introduction

The United States, on behalf of the Naticnal Oceanic
and Atmospheric Administration (#¥NOAA”), and the Commenwealth as

state trustee !”Commonwealth” or “state trustee”).filed i 2
e : . ';/U"//-*.'yl\“'?/""
complaints in these consolidated actions on December 9 and 10,

1983, respectively, seeking damages Ifor injurv tao, destruction

sy,

= s DEPLT - 1., :
of, znd loss of natural resources resulting|from. releases of
4 it , i
i UL -~ 199 ,

e —— -
] : LANDS DIVISION



solychlcrinated biphenyls (”PCBs”] .n New Bedfcrd Harbor,

- aas

Massachusetts, and adjacent waters under Secticn 107 of the

Comprenensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liabilicy
Ack, &2 B.5.6. & 907 (“CERCLAY .

Plaintiffs filed amended ccmplaints (hereinarfter
“Complaints”) in these actions on February 27 and 28, 1984. The
United States’ Complaint set forth, in addition to the claim rfor
natural resource damages described above, claims on behalf of the
United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) for
recovery cf response ceosSts under Section 107 of CERCLA, and
injunct:ive relief under Section 106 of CERCLA, +2 U.S.C. § 9606,

Section 7003 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, +2

U.s.C. § 6873 (”RCRA"), Section 504 of the Clean Water Act, 33

U.S.C. § 1364 (”CWA"”), and Section 13 cof the Rivers and Harbors
Act of 1899, 33 U.S.C. § 407 (71899 Act”). The Commonwealth’s
Compilaint set faorth, in addition to its claims for natural
resource damages described above, claims for recovery of response
cests incurred by the Commontealth under Section 107 of CERCLA,
42 U.5.C. § 9607, Sections 5(a) and 13 of Chapter 21E,
Massachusetts Ganeral Laws, and Sectiocon 27 of Chapter 21,
Massachusetts General Laws, and claims for abatement of a public
nuisance and abatement ¢f an abnormally dangercus condition under
state commen law.

The Complaints assert claims against five current
defendants, AVX Corporation, Aerovox, Belleville, Cornell-

Dubilier Electrenics, Inc., and Federal Pacific Electric Company.




eiates solely te the claims acainst Aerovox and
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The parties to this Decree agree that settlement of the
claims in this case by and against Defendants Aerovox and
Belleville is in the public interest and is made in good faith,
and that entry of this Decree is the most zppropriate means to

resolve the matrers covercd herein.

YOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND

m

It

DECR

- e
o

Jurisdiction

Ty The Ccurt has Jjurisdiction over the subject matter or
this acticn and the parties to this Decree pursuant te 28 U.S.C.
§§ 1331 and 1345, Section 113(b) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9613(b),
Sectiun 7003 of RCRA, 42 U.5.C. § 6973, Section 504 of the CWA,
33 B.5.Cy § 1564, End -S8eticy 13i-of thé 1888 -AcE; 33 U.8.05
§ 407, and has pendent jurisdiction over the claims arising under
state iaw. This Court also has rersonal jurisdicticon over the
Settling Lefendants, which, solely for the purposes of this
Consent Decree, waive all cobjections and defenses that they may
have to jurisdiction of the Court or to venue in this District.

Settling Defendants

2 Defendant ~erovox is a Delaware corporation with its

principal place of business in New Bedferd, Massachusetts.

Aercvox has owned and operated the Aerovox Facility (as

hereinarter defined) since October 27, 1978. For purposes of




= 4 e
=his Cecree, "2ercvox”® ncludes Aercvox (anada, Ltd., a Canadizn
corporazion wnich 1s a wholly-owned subsidiary cof Aerovox
Incorpcrated.
o Defendant Eelleville was formed as a Massachusetts

corporat:i:cn on December 3, 1972. 3elleville dissolved on

o1
0]

Decemper 21, 1978, and was revived for purpocses of responding
lawsuitzs on December 18, 1981. Belleville owned and operated the
Aerovox Facility (as hereinafter defined) from January 2, 1973 =o

October Z7, 1978.

Applicability of Decree

3 The provisions of this Decree shall apply to and ke
binding cn the United States and the Commonwealth and their
agencies and departments and on Settling Defendants and their
successors and assigns. Changes in the ownership or corporate
form cr status of a Settling Defendant shall have no effect cn
the Sertling Defendant’s obligations under this Decree.

Effect of Settlement/Entry of Judgment

Sis '*his Decree was negotiliated and executed by the partiss
hereto in good faith ta avoid the continuaticn of expensive and
protracted litigation and is a fair and equitable settlement.
The execution of this Decree is not an admission of liability,
nor is it an admission or denial of any of the factual
allegaticns set out in the Complaints or an admission of
violaticn of any law, rule, regulation, or policy by any Settling

Defendant or its officers, directors, employees, or agents.


http:part:.es
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S, “pon apprcital and entry of this Decrese by the Court,

the Cecrze shall constitute a £inal judgment tatween and among
PlaintiZfs and derfendants aerovox and Eelleville.
Definitions
T This Decree incerporates the definitions set forth iz
Secticn 131 cf CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9601. In addition, whenever
the follcwing terms are used in this Consent Decree, they shall
have the following meanings:

A. ”Aerovox‘Facil;tyﬁ means the manufacturing plant
and assoclated structures and land currently owned and cperated
by Aerovox =t 740 and 742 Belleville Avenue, !lew Bedford,
fdassachuset<ts.

=3 #Covered Matters” has the meaning set forth in
Paragraph 1% below.

C. "DEP” means the Massachusetts Department cf
Environmentai Prorection.

D. “Federal Trustees” neans the Secretary of

Commerce, ccting through HOAA, and the Sacretary of the Interior.

0l

s "Final approval of the Decree” shall mean the
earliest cate on which all of the following have occurred:

(1) the Decree has been lodged with the Court and noticed in the
Federal Register, and the period for submission of public
comments has expired: (2) the Court has approved and entered the
Decree as a judgment; and (3) the time for appeal from that
judgment has expired without the filing of an appeal, or the

judgment has teen upheld on appeal and either the time for



AR =
-

further apceal has expired without the flling cf a further zpgeal

m

or no IZurcther appeal is allowed.

F. “Natural Resources” shall have the meaning
orovided in Section 101(16) of CERCLA, 32 U.S.C. § 9601(1s6).

c. "Natural Resource Damages” means damages,
excluding costs of damages assessment, recoverable under Secticn
107 of CERCLA for injury to, destructiocon of, or loss of any and
all Natural Resources of the New Bedford Harbor Site.

H. “New Bedford Harbor Site” or “Site” means the New
3edford Harbor Superrund Site, located in New Bedford,
YMassachusetts, including New Bedford Harbor, the Acushnet River
Estuary, and any adjaceqt marine waters and sediments and
shoreline areas which are the subject of EFA’s current Remedial
Investigation and Feasibility Study, including at least Areas |,
2, and I as defined in 105 C.M4.R. part 260.005 and as depicted on
Exhibit A to the United States’ Complaint. The Site does not 1
include any portion of the Aerovox Facility westward (away frmma
“he Acushnet River Estuary) of the steel sheet pile wall which |
Aerovox has installed along the length of the tidal mudflat . k
vortion of the Aerovox Facility.

Is “Remedial Acticon” means those actions that EPA
determines should be implemented pursuant to CERCLA to address
hazardous substance contamination at the New Bedford Harbor Site,
as set Zorth in the RODs.

e g "Response costs” means costs of response or



remedial zction, including ccsts of cperation and rmaintenance c¢f
remedial ecticn components.

s "RODs” means the [irst and second operable unit
records c? decision for the Mew Eedford Harbor Site issued cor t=
be issued bv EPA following the completion of the ongoing Remedizl
Investigaticn and Feasibility Study and, in the event the first
two records af decision do not address all areas of the Site, any
additional cperable unit record(s) of decision that EPA considers
necessary to provide a cemprehensive initial remedial decision
{including a no action decision) with respect to PCBs for all
areas of the Site. "“RODs” does not include any record of
decision with respect to later-discovered conditions or
information as described in Paragraphs 20 or 21.

L. #State Trustee” means the Secretary of the

Executive Office of Environmental Affairs, Commonwealth of

Massachusertts.
Payment Terms
5 Summary of Payment Cbligations. In accordance with the

requirements of Paragraphs 9-17, Settling Defendants shall pav to

Plaintiffs the principal amount of $12,600,000 (of which $9.45

million is for response costs and $3.15 million is for natural

e e iy e

resource damages) together with interest. As specified in

Paragraphs 9 and 10, $6.1 million of this principal amount shall
be placed in escrow for Plaintiffs’ benefit within fifteen dave
after all parties have signed the Decree and shall be disbursed

to Plaintiffs within five days after final approval of the



Decree; as specified in Paragraph 11, Aerovex shall pay an
addiziznal $3.5 million to Plaintififs within five days after
final approval of the Decree; and, as specified in Paragraphs .-
and 13, derovox shall pay another $3 million tc Plaintiffs in
three annual installments. Plaintiffs, including the Federal
Trustees and the State Trustee, have determined the manner :in
which the payments to be made by Settling Defendants under this
Decree shall be allcocated between the Plaintiffs and among past
and future response costs and natural resource camages, and
Settling Defendants have agreed tc this allecaticn as presentsd
to them by Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs represent that the allocaticn
of the racovery set forth in the Decree is appropriate, proper,
and zdeguate.
9. gsgrgwed Funds

Ks Within fifteen (15) davs after lodging of the
Decree with the Court, Settling Defendants shall establish an
escrow account (the “Escrow”) bearing interest cn commercially
reasonable terms, in a federally~chartered bank with an office in
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and each Settling Defendant
shall pay into the Escrow the sum specified for it below for the

benefit of Plaintiffs.

Settling Defendant Amount
Aerovox Incorporated $2,100,000
Belleville Industries, Inc. $4,000,000

Settling Defendants shall notify Plaintiffs in writing of the

creation and funding of the Escrow immediately after both of the
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abcve payments have been made. This notice shall be sent Ly nand

or ty cvernight =ail to: William O. Brighton, Zavironmental
Znfcrcement Section, U.S. Department of Justicea, Room 1541 (ZZS
Dockets), 10th & Pennsvivania Avenue, i{I.W., Washington, D.C.

20530; and Yatthew T. Brock, Assistant Attornev General, One
Ashburten Place, 1%th Floor, Baosten, MA 02108.

B. Subject only to the provisions of subparagraph C
of this Paragraph, 3ettling Defendants’ obligations to establish
the Escrow and to pay the amounts specified above into the Escrow
within the speciried time are contractual cbligations to
Plaintiifs and to each other, effective as of the date that btoth
Setzling Defendants, the United States Assistant Attorney
General, and the Massachusetts Assistant Attornmey General have
signed the Decree, and those obligations shall be enforceable zas
a matter of contract law regardless of when or whether the Decrse
is entered by the Court. The consideration for these contracrual
undertakings £y Settling Defendants includes the immediate
cessaticn of litigaticn activities until a determination is nade
whether this Decree will he entered and the resolution of -
Plaintiffs’ claims against Settling Defendants as set forth in
the Decree, if the Decree is approved and entered by the Court.

G All funds paid into the Escrow by Settling
Defendants shall remain in the Escrow and may not be withdrawn by
&ny perscn, except to make the payments required by Paragraph 10
or unless one of the following events occurs: (1) the United

States withdraws its consent to entry of the Decree after the



-2

X

.

Zecree nas keen _cdged, pursuant ©o Paragraph 28; or (2) a
judicial <etermination is made that entry of the Tecree is nct :in
the public interesst and that the Decree will not Le approved zad
entered. Zf one of these events cccurs, all sums in the Escrew

may be returned tc Settling Defendants.

10. Disbursements From The Escrew. Within five (5) days

after final apprcval of the Decree, Settling Defendants shall
cause the full $6,100,000 paid into the Escrow under Paragrapn ©
and all accrued interest thereon to be disbursed from the Escrce
to Plaintiffs as follows:

AL The sum of $1,505,000, plus the interest accrued
on that amount, shall be paid to the EPA Hazardous
Substances Superfund in the manner provided in Paragraph 1i
in reimbursement of past response costs incurred by the
United States with respect to the New Bedfordé Harbor Site.

B The sum of $85,000, plus the interest accrued cn
that amount, shall be paid to the Commonwealth in the manner
provided in Faragraph 15 in reimbursement of past response
costs incurred by the Commonwealth with respect to the. New
Bedford Harbor Site.

2 The sum of $2,985,000, plus the interest accrued
on that amount, shall he paid to the EPA Hazardcus
Substances Superfund, Attn: New Bedford Harbor Special
Account, on account of future response costs to be incurred
by the United States and the Commonwealth with respect to

the MNew Bedford Harbor Site, in the manner provided in



Paragraph 1%, All ameounts paid cn account of future
respcnse cosSts under this subparagraph and Subparagraphs

.C and 12.a shall Se used to fund casponse actions by E=A

o
]

at the'ilew Bedford Harbtor Site arfter Iinal approval of the
Decree: provided that +ten percent (10%) of those amounts
shall satisfy the Commonwealth’s obligation under Secticn
104 (c) (3) {C) of CERCLA to pay ten percent {1l0%) of the cocst
of those response acticns that are funded by the recovery
under this subparagraph and Subparagraphs 11.C and 12.A.

D. The sum of $1,2350,000, plus the interest accrued
on that amount, shall ke deposited into the Registry of the
Court, United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts, to be administered by the Registry of the
Court for the Federal and State Trustees, in payvment for
Na;gral Resource Damages. This payment shall ke made in the
manner specified in Subparagraecn 17.a below, 2nd the amount
so paid and zny interest accruied thereon shall be
administered and disbursed as provided in Subvaragraphs 17.B
and 17.C below. 1

E. The sum of $275,000, plus the interest accrued con
that amount, shall be disbursed to NCAA in reimﬁursement of
its costs of assessing Matural Resource Damages. This
pavment shall be made =y certified or kank check payable ts
”7.S. Departrz=ent of Ccamerce, National Oceanic and

Atmospheric Administration, Office of Marine Assessment,”

and shall be sent to:
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General Counsel
Yational Oceanic znd Atmospneric
Administraticn
Room £R14 Herkert Hoover ECuilding
l14th & Constituticn Avenue, H.W.
Washington, D.C, 20230
Sertling Uefendants shall cause copies of this check and or
any transmittal letter accompanying the check to be sent zo:
Chief, Znvironmental Enforcement Section, Department of
Justice, P.0. Box 7611, Ben Franklin Station, Washington,
D.C. 20044: and Chief, Environmental Protection Divisicn,
Department of the Attorney éeneral, One Ashburten Place.
Beston, XA 02108,
it. ditional Up-Front Payment Bv Aerovox. Within five
(5) days after final approval of the Tccree, Aerovox shall pay to
Plaintiffs an additional $3,500,000 principal amount, plus
interest on that amount at the same rate(s) and from the same
date applicable to the funds in the Escrow established pursuanc
to Paragraph & above. This payment shall be made as follows:

Al The sum of $£65,000, pius the interest accrued c-o
that amount, shall be paid to the EPA Hazardous Substances
Superfund in the manner provided in Paragraph 14 in i
reimbursement of past response costs incurred by the Unirted
States with respect to the New Bedford Harbor Site.

B. The sum of $45,000, plus the interest accrued on
that amount, shall be paid to the Commonwealth in the manner
provided in Paragraph 15 in reimbursement of past response

costs incurred by the Commonwealth with respect to the New

Bedford =Zarbor Site.



s The sum of $1,715,000, plus the interest acerued
cn that amount, shall be paid to the EPA Hazardcus
Substances Superfund, Attn: New Bedford Harber Special
account, on account of future response costs to be 1ncurzzd
oy the United States and g;; Commonwealth with respect to
the New Bedford Harbor Site. This payment shall be made in
acccrdance with Paragraph 16 below.

D. The sum of $584,000, plus the interest accrued cn
that amount, shall ke deposited into the Registry of the
Court, United States District Court for the District of

“assachusetts, to be administered by the Registry of the

Court for the Federal and State Trustees, in payment for

Natural Resource Damages. This payment shaii be made in the
manner specified in Subparagraph 17.A below, and the amount
so paid and any interest accrued thereon shall be
administered and disbursed as provided in Subraragraphs 17.8
and 17.C below.

Ea The sum of $275,000, plus the interest accruied zn
that zmount, shall be disbursed to NOAA in reimbursemant of
its‘Eg§t$ of assessing Natural Resource Damages. This
payment shall be made in the manner specified in Paragraph
10.E above.

& The sum of $16,000, plus the interest accrued on
that amount, shall be paid toc the Commonwealth in

reimbursement of its cests of assessing Natural Resource
costs

Damages. This payment shall be made by certified cor bank



—necx payable I "Commonwealth of Massachusetts”, and sizalil

Chier, £nvironmental Protection Division
Department of the Attorney General

One Ashkburrton Place, 19th TFloor

Boston, MA 02108

additicon to the payments required by Paragraphs 9-11, Aerovox
shall gay 53,000,000 to Plaintiffs in three installments of
$1,000,000 each. These three installments shall be due by the
first, zeccnd, 4and thifﬁ annlvefsaries, respectively, of the date
of ledging cf this Decree, and they shall be paid by those dates
except as sat forth in Paragraph 13. Each such installment shall
be disbursad as follows:
Al The sum of $750,000 shall be paid to the the EPA
Hazarcous Substances Superfund, Attn: New Bedford Harbor
Special Account, on account of future response ceosts to be
incurred by the United States and the Commonwealth with
respect to the New Bedford Harbor Site. Zach such payment
shall Se made in the manner specified in Paragraph 16 below.
B. The sum of $250,000 shall be deposited into the
Registry of the Court, United States District Court for the
District of Massachusetts, to be admiﬁistered by the
Registry of the Ccurt for the Federal and State Trustees, in
payment for Hatural Resource Damages. This pavment shall be
made 1n the manner specified in Subparagraph 17.A below, and

the amount so paid and any interest accrued thereon shall be
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zdminisctered and disbursed as provided in Subparagraphs 17.2

afng 17.C Eelowy

3. ZEffect orf Delaved Approval of Decree. 1In the event
that final approval of this Decree has not occurred by the date
any installment reguired by Paragraph 12 above is due, Aerovox
shall cay the installment, plus interest thereon at the same
rate(s) applicable to the runds in the Escrow established under
Paragrapn ¢ above from the date the installment was due to the
date cf payment, to Plaintiffs within five (5) days after final
approval cZ the Decree. Any such installment shall be disbursed
as specifiied in Paragraph 12.

14. >rocedures for Pavment of Past EPA Response Costs.

zZach payment Zor past United States response costs, or for
stipulated penalties due to EPA, shall be made by certified or
bank check payable to “EPA Hazardous Substances Superfund.” Zach
such check shall reference on its face the New Bedford Harkor
Site and CERCLIS WNo. MAD980731335 and shall be sent to:

EPA Region I

Attn: Superfund Accounting

P.0. Box 360197M

Pittsburgh, PA 15251 5
Settling Defendants shall cause copies of each such check and of
any transmittal letter accompanying the check to be sent to:
Chief, sSuperfund Office, Office of Regional Counsel, EPA Region
I, 2202 JrK Federal Building, Boston, MA 02203; cChief,

Znvironmental EZnforcement Section, Department of Justice, P.O.

Box 7611, Ben Franklin Station, Washington, D.C. 20044; and
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Chief, Znvironmental Protection Civision, Department of the

Attornev General, One Ashburtcn PlLace, Zoston, fA 22108.

(81

= Procedures for Pzyment =T Past State Response Costs.

Zach gzvment for past Commonwealtlh response costs, or for
stipulated penalties due to the Ccamonwealth, shall be made zv
certified or bank check payable to “Commonwealth of
Massachiusetts”, and shall be sent to:

Chier ;

Environmental Zrotecticn Division

Department of the Attorney General

One Ashburton Place, 13th floor

Bostcon, MA 02108
Settling Defendants shall cause ccpies of each such check and of
any transmittal letter accompanving the check to be sent to:
Chief, Cost Recovery Section, Bureau of Waste Site Cleanup,
Departzent of Environmental Protection, One Winter Street,
Boston, MA 02108.

15, rocedures for Pavments Zor Future Response Costs.

fach pavment for future response costs shall be made by certified

2r bank check payable to ”“EPA Hazardous Substances Superfund,
attn: llew Bedford Harbor Special Account”, and shall be sent to:

EPA Region I

Attn: Superfund Accounting

P.O. Box 360197M

Pittsburgh, PA 15251
Settling Defendants shall cause copies of each such check and of
any transmittal letter accompanyinc the check to be sent to:
Chief, Superrfund Office, Office of Regional Counsel, EPA Region

I, 2203 JFK Federal Building, Bosteon, A 02203; Chief,

ZInvironmental Enforcement Section, Cepartment of Justice, 2.0.
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2ox T32il, Zen Franklin Staticn, Washingteon, D.C. Z0044: and
Chief, Envirsnmental Protecticn Division, Department of the
Attornev CGsneral, Cne Ashburtcn Place, Boston, “A 22108.

ents and Use of Funds

A Each payment for Natural Resource Damages shall be
made by certified or bank check payable to the ”"Clerk, United
States District Court.” Each such check shall include on its
face a statement that it is a payment for natural resource
damages in Civil Action, No. £3-3882-Y (D. Mass.), and shall be
Sent T

Office of the Clerk
United States District Court for the

District of Massachuserts
Room 707

J.W. McCormack Post Office and Courthouse

Boston, Massachusetts 02109
Settling Cefendants shall cause copies of each check for Naturzl
Resource Damages and of any transmittal letter accempanying the
check to be sent to: Chief, Envircnmental Enforcement Section,
DeparcTrment oI Justice, 2.0. Box 7611, Ben Franklin Station,
Washington, 2.C. 20044; Regicnal Attorney, NOAA Office of
General Counsel, One Blackburn Drive - Suite 205, Gloucester, !MA
01930; Regicnal Solicitor, U.S. Department of the Interior,
Northeast Regicn, One Gateway Canter - Suife 612, Newton Corner,
MA 0215B; and Chief, Environmental Protection Division,
Jepartment of the Attorney General, One Ashburten Place, Boston,
A 02108.

B. The Registry of Court shall administer all amounts

palid for Matural Resource Damages under this Cecree in an

]




Aerovox & Belleville
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interest-cearing account (”Registry Account®) As provided i trna
Crder Zirecting the Deposit of Natural Resource [Pamages Inte =ha
Registry of the Court (“Deposit Order”} issued bty this Court
pursuant to Rule 67 of the Federal Pules of Civil Procedure, 13
U.8.C. § 2041, and Local Rule 67.2(c) of the Lccal Rules for the
U.5. District Court for the District cof Massachusetts. The
Deposit Order shall be attached to this Decree.

el All funds and all interest accrued thereon in the
Registry Account shall be held in the name of the “Clerk, United
States District Court,” for the benefit of the Federal and Staze
Trustees. Upon joint application(s) by the United States and the
Commonwealth, monies in the Registry Account shall be disbursad
to the Federal and State Trustees by further order cf this court -
for use by the Trustees to plan, implement, and coversee actions
to restore, replace, or accuire the eguivalent of natural
resources that have been injured, destroyed, or lost &S a resultc
of the release of hazardous substances at the New Eedford Harker
Eite, in accordance with Section 107(f) (1) of CERCLA. All
disbursements from the Registry Account shall be made by order cf
the Court in accordance with the provisions of 28 U.S5.C. § 2042 |
and Local Rule 67.3 of the Local Rules for 'the U.S. District
Court for the District of Massachusetts.

D. In the event that it is later determined that the

provisions of subparagraphs A-C of this Paragraph 17 are
unlawful, the amounts in the Registry Account or payable under

this Decree for Natural Resource Damages shall be distributed to



the Federa2zl and Ztate Trusteses as determined ty further 3dgreenent
of the United S:tates and tha Commonwealth or, if no such
agreement .5 reacned within a reasonable time, Dy an alleccaticzn
of those amounts oy this Court. In making any such allocaticn,
the Court shall consider any Memorandum of Agreement cr
tlemorandun of Understanding between the United States and the
Commonweélth concerning the use cof amounts recovered for natural
resource camages at the New Bedford Harbor Site. 211 amounts
recovered Ior Natural Resource Damages at the Site and all
interest zccrued thereon shall be used in accordance with Secrien
197 (E) (1) =f CERCTA-
Covenants Not To Sue By Plaintiffs

18. Except as specifically provided in Paragraphs 20-22,
the United States and the Ccmmonwealth covenant not to sue or to
take any other civil or administrative action against Settling
Defendants “or Ccvered Matters, as defined in Paragraph 19. With
respect to liability for Covered Matters other than future
liabilicy, these covenants not to sue shall take effect upon
entry of the Decree by the Court, subject to the parties’ rights
to veoid the Decrse pursuant to Péragraph 33 if the Court declines
to approve the Decree as presented. With respect to any ruture
liability of Settling Defendants, these covenants not to sue
shall take effect upon certificaticn of completion of the
Remedial Action.

19. Except as specifically provided in Paragraph 23,

Covered Matters means any civil or administrative liability to



the UniteZ States and/or the Ccmmonwealth for (1) damages fz=r
injury =z, destruction of, or loss of latural Resources of the
New Bedfors Harbor Site, including costs or damages assessment,
under, Sgctisn 107 of CERCLA, M.G.L: €. 21E, M.G.L. o, 21, § 27,
and state common law; (2) reimbursemeﬁc oL response costs
incurred cr to be incurred by the United States or the
Commonwealth with respect to the New Bedford Harbor Site under
Section 107 of CERCLA, M.G.L. c. 21E, M.G.L. ©. 21, §§ 27, 40,
and state common law: and (3) injunctive relief with respect =z
the New Bedford Harbor Site under Section 106 of CERCLA, Secticn
7003 ©f RCRA, Secticn 504 of CWA, the 1899 Act, and state common
law.

20. 2re-certification reservations. Notwithstanding any
other provision of this Decree, the United States, and the
Commonwealth if acting jointly with the United States, reserve
the right to institute proceedings in this acticn or in a new
action éeeking to compel Settling Cefendants (1) to perform
response zctiosns at the New Bedford Harbor Site, or (2) to
reimburse the United States (and the Commonwealth if acting
jointly with the United States) for response costs, prior to
certification of completion of the Remedial Action, 1if:

A. conditions at the New Bedford Harbor Site,
previously unknown to the United States and the

Commonwealth, are discovered after the issuance of the

RODs, or
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3. ‘nformation is received, in whole or in part; acte
the issuance of the =0Ds,
and these previously ﬁnknown ccnditions or this information,
together with any other relevant informaticn, :ndicate that the
Remedial Action is not protective of human health and the
environment.

21. Post-certirfication reservations. Notwithstanding any

other provision of this Decree, the United States, and the
Commonwealth if acting Jjointly with the United States, reserve
the right to institute proceedings in this action or in a new
action seeking to compel Settling Defendants (1) te perform
response actions at the Hew Bedford Harbor Site, or (2) to
reimburse the United States (and the Commonwealth if acting
jointly with the United States) for response costs, after
certification of completion of the Remedial Acticn, if:
A. conditions at the llew Bedford Earkor Site,
previously unknown to the United States and the
Commonwealth, are discovered after the certification of
completion, or "
B. information is received, in wheole or in part, after
the certification of completion,
and these previously unknown conditions or this information,
together with any other relevant information, indicate that the

Remedial Action is not protectivae of human health and the

environment.
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22. Reservations concerning natural rescurce injurv.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Decree, the Unitec
States and the Cummonwealth, on behalf of their respective
natural resource trustees, reserve the right to institute
proceedings against Settling Defendants in this action or in a
new action seeking recovery of Natural Resource Damages, based con
(1) conditions with respect to the Site, unknown to Plaintiffs arc
the date of lodging of this Decree, that result in releases or
hazardous substances that ccntribute te injury to, destruction
of, or loss of natural resources, or (2) information received
after the date of lodging of the Decree which indicates that
there is injury to, destruction of, or loss of natural resources
of a type that was unknown, or of a magnitude substantially
greater than was known, to Plaintiffs at the date of lodging cz
this Decree.

23. MNotwithstanding any other provision of this Decree,
Plaintiffs’ covenants not to sue shall not apply Lo the following
claims:

A. claims based on a failure by Settling Defendants <o
satisfy the requirements of the Decree:;

B. claims for criminal liability: and

C. «claims arising from the past, present, or future
disposal, release or threat of release of hazardous
substances or oil or hazardous materials outside of the
New Bedford Harbor Site, including claims by the

Commonwealth with respect to DEP site number 4-0127
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(Substaticn Interceptors) and DEP site numpber 4-0601
(Aerovox 0il Bunker), but excluding claims for resccnse
costs incurred, or for injury to, destruction of, Ur
loss orf natural resources, in the New Bedford Harkcr
Site from any releases of PCBs resulting from
conditions existing as of the date of lodaing of the
Consent Decree at DEP site numbers 4-0127 and 4-0601.
24. While consenting to the language of Paragraphs 20-22,
Settling Defendants reserve the right to argue in anv subseguent
proceeding as to the proper intefpretation of those Paragrapns in
light ef Section 122(f) (6) of CERCLA.
Covenants by Settling Defendants
25. Settling Defendants hereby release and covenant not to
sue, or to bring any administrative action against, the United
States or the Commonwealth for any claims relating to or arising
frcm the New Bedford Harbor Site or this Consent Decree,
including the counterclaims asserted in Settling Defendants’
Answers to the Complaints, and including any direct or indirect
claim pursuant to Section 112 of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. § 9612, or
pursuant to any other statute, regulation, common law, or léqal
theory, against the Hazardous Substances Superfund, for
reimbursement relating to the New Bedford Harbor Site; provided
that, in the event that Plaintiffs institute proceedings against
Settling Defendants pursuant to Paragraphs 20-22, Settling
Defendants reserve the right to reassert the counterclaims

against the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers set forth in their
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inswers T: the Ccmplaints solely #s, znd teo the extent of, = set-
>ff against the claims asserted by Plaintiffs. IHothing in this
Decree shall be deemed to constitute preautheorization of a clainm
@#ithin the meaning of Section 111 cof CERCLA, 42 U.S5.C. § 9611.

26. Settling Defendants waive any rights they may have to
seek judicial or administrative review of the RODs issued by EPA
and/or the Commonwealth for the New Bedford Harbor Site and of
any actions taken to implement the RODs. Settling Defendants
further waive any direct or indirect claim relating to the New
ledford Harkor Site pursuant to M.G.L. ¢. 20, §§ 61-62H and 391
C.M.R. § 11.00 et seq.

Access and Property Use Restrictions

27. TIhe United States and the Commonwealth, their agencies
and departments, and their authorized representatives, including
contractors and censultants, shall have access to the Aerovoex
Facility, =xcept for the buildings located on the aerovox
Tacility as of the lodging of the Decree, upon reasonable notice
Z0 Aerovox Lor any purpose for which access is authorized under
Section 104(e) of CERCLA, 42 U.S5.C. § 9604(e), or Secticn 8 _of
M.G.L. c. 21E, related to the New Bedford Harbor Site. This
right of access is in addition to and not in lieu of, any right
of entry or access which exists under federal or state law.

28. Aerovox agrees to abide by any property use
restrictions selected by EPA or the Commonwealth in connecticn
Wwith implementation or operation and maintenance of the Remedial

Acticn on the portion of the Aerovox Facility that is included in




w

the lzwv Z=dford Earbor 3ite. _“pon determination c¢f those
crorerTy ise rastrictions, aercvox shall ifile and record the
cffice <here real =state title and transfer records are recorded
and maistained for the Aerovox Facility.

Interest and Penalties for Late Payments
2¢. If any payment required by Paragrarh 9 of this Decree
is nct =ade by the date specified in that Paragraph, the Settling
Defendant(s) that failed tc make timely pavment shall be liable
to Plaintiffs for interest cn the overdue amount(s), from the
time paiment was due until full payment is wmade, at the higher of
(a) the rate established by the Department of the Treasury under
31 U.5.C. § 3717 and 4 C.F.R. § 102.13, or (b) the commercially
reasonacle interest rate that applies te the Escrow or that would
have apriied to the Escrow if it had been tizely established and
funded.

0. ZIf anv payment required by Paragraphs 10-12 of this
Decree 13 not made by the date specified in that Paragraph,
Settlinc Defendants shall pay to EPA, for any payment overdue

.under Subparagraphs 10.A, 10.¢, 1il1.A, 11.C, or 12.A; to the
United States, for any payment overdue under Subparagraph 10.E eor
11.E; 50 cercent to the United States and 50 percent to the
Cormmonwealth, rfor any payment overdue under Subparagraphs 10.D,

11.D, or 12.B; and to the Commonwealth, for any payment overdue

under Subvaragraphs 10.B, 11.B, or 11.F, stipulated penalties in
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the following amounts for esach day of each and every violaticn cf

sald reguirements:

Days of Delav Penalty Per Violation Per Day
1-14 S 300/day
14~-€0 $1,500/day

Bevond 60 Days $3,000/day

31. Stipulated penalties due to the United States under
'~ this Decree shall be paid by certified or bank check made pavable
to “Treasurer of the United States” and shall be sent to:

Chief, Civil Divisicn

United States Attorneys’ Office

1107 J.W. McCormack Post Office/Courthouse

Boston, MA 02109
Stipulated penalties due to EPA or the Commonwealth under this
Decree shall be paid in the manner described in Paragraphs 14 and
15 above.

32. Interest under Paragraph 29 and stipulated penalties
under Paragraph 30 shall be in addition to any other remedies or
sanctions that may be available to Plaintiffs on account of a
Settling Defendant’s failure to comply with the terms of the
Decree. -

Voidability

33. If for any reasaon the Court should decline to approve
this Decree in the form presented, this Decree and the settlement
embodied herein shall be voidable at the sole discretion cof any
party and the terms hereof may not be used as evidence in any

litigation; provided, however, that this paragraph shall not

apply if the sole ground for non-approval of the Decree is the
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Court‘s disapproval crf the allocation of Settling Defendants’
payments under the Decree between Plaintiffs and/cr among past
and future response ccsts and/or natural resource damages.
Contribution Protection

34. Settling Defendants shall have the benefits of Secticn
113 (f) of CERCLA, 42 U.s.Cc. § 9613(f), Section 4 of Mass. Gen.
Laws c. 231B, and any other applicable law limiting their
liability toc persons not a party to this Consent Decree or
affording them rights of contribution or other rights to recover
costs cr damages relating to the New Bedford Harbor Site from
such cersons.

Retention of Response Authority

35. Except for the covenants not to bring certain actions
against Settling Defendants set forth in Paragraphs 18-22, the
Decree shall not ke construed to limit the authority of the
United States or the Commonwealth to take any and all response
actions relating tc the New Bedford Harbor Site authorized bv
federal or state jaw.

Compliance with Other Laws &

36. The Decree shall not ke construed in any way to relieve
Settling Defendants or any other person or entity from the
obligation to comply with any federal, state or local law.

Retention of Jurisdiction

37. The Court shall retain jurisdicticon of this matter for

the purpose cof entering such further orders, direction, or relief
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as may z2 appropriate for the constructicn, implementation, -+

anforcz=zent of this Decree.

Public Comment

318. The Decree shall be subject to a 20-day opublic comment
period in accordance with Section 122(d) (2) of CERCLA, 42 U.S.C.
§ 9622(2)(2), and 28 C.F.R. § 50.7. The United States reservas
the right, in consultation with the Commonwealth, to withdraw its
consent o the Decree if comments received disclose facts or
considerations which show that the Decree is inappropriate,

improper cr inadequate; provided that comments which, in the

judgment £ the United States, show that the allocation or
Settling Defendants’ payments under the Decree between Plaintiffs
and/or among past and future response costs and/or natural
resource damages 1s inappropriate or improper shall constitute
grounds for modification of the Decree to reallocate those
payments tut shall not, by themselves, constitute a ground upon
which the United States mav withdraw its consent to the Decree.
Settling Cefendants consent to the entry of the Decree without

further notice. -



|
%)
w

|

THE FOREGCING Consent Decree among plaintiffs the United Stazss
of America aznd the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and defendanzsz
Aerovox Inccrporated and Belleville Industries, Inc., in Unitsd

States . AVX Corsoration, C€iv. lo. 283-3882-Y (D. Mass.), 1is

T
hereby APPROVED AND ENTERED THIS /7~ DAY OF M )

1994. /7/
e B

WILLIAM G. I
United sStat Digtrict Judge
District of Massachusetts



- 20 =3
iConsent Cecree with Aercvwox Incorporated and 2elleville
Industries, Inc. in United States v. 27X Corveratiza, civ.

a v
53=3882~% [D. Mass.]

FOR, THE TUITED STATES OF AMERICS

/ Vi
: Grcvend 1 Descnsi-
Date: [/A/13/9n Aoy [ . Lt
¢ i Richard B. Stewart
Assistant Attorney General
Znvironment and Natural Resources
Division
U.S. Department cf Justice
Washington, D.C. 20530

P s

#Fllen M. Maham'
William D. Brightdn
Senior Counsel

Environmental Enforcement Secticon
Environment and Natural Resources

Division
U.S. Department of Justice
Washington, D.C. 20530

Wayne A. Budd
United States Attorney
District of Massachusetts

Suzanne Durreill

Assistant U.S. Attorney

1107 J.W. McCormack Post Office/
Courthouse

Boston, Hassachusetts 02109

At .



[Censent CZecree with Aerovox Incorporated and Bellevill
Tndusrries, Inc. Iin United Stagpges wv. YK Corporzsticn, =Ziv. o,
83-3882-¢ (D. Mass.]

S~
James M. Strock
Assistant Administrator for Snforcemen:z
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

401 M Street, S.W.
Washington, D.C. 20460

,@u@/

utie Belaga
eaional Admlnlsur Yar
U.S. Environmental Protectiocn Agency,
Region I
JFK Federal Building
Boston, Massachusetts 02203

)
iz U, Toust
Elizabeth V. Foote
Mark Lowe
Office of Regional Counsel
U.S. EZnvironmental Protection Agency,
Regicn I
JFK Federal Building
Bostcn, Massachusetts 02203
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[Consent Cecree with 3Zerovox Incorporated and 2ellevills
Industries, Inec. in United States . AVX Corporation, Civ. llo.
23-3882~Y .D. Hass.)]

FOR THE FEDERAL NATURAL RESOQURCE TRUSTEZS

Qo A

/

Jghn A. Knauss

Under Secretary for Oceans
Administrator, National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration

U.S. Department of Commerce
Washington, D.C. 20230

General Counsel
National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration

Q(Z L?%;J/ W /19190

Anton &

Office of General Counsel
National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration
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[Consenz [scree with Aerovox Incorporated and Eelleville
Industrizs, Inc. in United Statves w. AVX Corcoxatrion, Civ.: lo.
§3-3388z-7 {D. Mass.}]

FOR THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

SN

Matthew T. Brock
Michael Mascis
Assistant Attornevs General
Environmental Protection Division
One Ashburten Place
Boston, Massachusetts (02108

> s

\ : } s
Ci 9 / . .,/;~=;\¥_

__-Daniel 3. Greenbdum, Commissioner
Depa ent of Environmental Protection
Commonwealth of Massachusetts
One Winter Street :
Boston, Massachusetts 02108

FOR THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
NATURAL RESQURCE TRUSTEE

A\N\\/\,\
John Devillars, 3ecretary
Executive Office of Environmental
Affairs
Commonwealth of Massachusetts
100 Cambridge Street, 20th Floor
Boston, Massach